
Kent Taylor Civic Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities.  A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made a least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 435-
5702 or Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov.  

   Kent Taylor Civic Hall 
 200 NE Second Street 
 McMinnville, OR 97128 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Tuesday, July 14, 2020 

6:00 p.m. – Work Session - CANCELED 
7:00 p.m. – Regular Council Meeting 

Welcome! The public is welcome to attend, however if you are not feeling well, please stay home and take care of 
yourself. In accordance with Governor Kate Brown's Executive Order we are limiting the amount of people at Civic 
Hall and if we meet capacity we may ask you to leave. With new face covering mandate all who wish to attend 

public meetings must wear a face mask or some kind of face covering is required. 

The public is strongly encouraged to relay concerns and comments to the Council in one of three ways: 
• Email at any time up to 12 p.m. the day of the meeting to Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov;
• If appearing via telephone only please sign up prior to the meeting by emailing the City Recorder at
Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov as the chat function is not available when calling in zoom;
• Join the zoom meeting; send a chat directly to City Recorder, Claudia Cisneros, to request to speak

and use the raise hand feature in zoom to request to speak, once your turn is up we will announce your name and 
unmute your mic.   

______________________________________________________________________________ 

You can live broadcasts the City Council Meeting on cable channels Xfinity 11 and 331, 
Frontier 29 or webstream here: 

www.mcm11.org/live 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING:  
You may join online via Zoom Meeting:  

https://mcminnvilleoregon.zoom.us/j/94063537569?pwd=dEVycjVLemdRWi9DaWwyYTRCOVdzZz09 
Zoom ID: 940-6353-7569 
Zoom Password: 019168 

 Or you can call in and listen via zoom:  1-253- 215- 8782 
ID: 940-6353-7569 

6:00 PM – COUNCIL WORK SESSION – CANCELED 

  7:00 PM – REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING – VIA ZOOM & COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL

2. INVITATION TO CITIZENS FOR PUBLIC COMMENT – The Mayor will announce that any interested audience
members are invited to provide comments. Anyone may speak on any topic other than:  a matter in litigation, a quasi-
judicial land use matter; or a matter scheduled for public hearing at some future date.  The Mayor may limit comments to 3
minutes per person for a total of 30 minutes.  The Mayor will read comments emailed to City Recorded and then any citizen
participating via Zoom.

1

mailto:Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov
mailto:Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov
mailto:Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov
http://www.mcm11.org/live


Kent Taylor Civic Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities.  A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made a least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 435-
5702 or Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov.  

3. ADVICE/ INFORMATION ITEMS
a. Reports from Councilors on Committee & Board Assignments
b. Department Head Reports

4. CONSENT AGENDA
a. Consider the Minutes of the November 12, 2019 City Council Work Session and Regular City

Council Meeting.

5. RESOLUTION
a. Consider Resolution No. 2020-45: A Resolution authorizing the City Manager to enter into a

contract with Stryker Medical through the Houston Galveston Area Cooperative Purchasing
Program (HGAC) for the purchase of eight (8) new Physio Control LIFEPAK 15
Monitor/Defibrillator’s.

b. Consider Resolution No. 2020-46: A Resolution authorizing the City Manager to enter into a
sub-grant agreement with McMinnville Water and Light for CARES Act funding through the
Coronavirus Relief Fund program.

6. ORDINANCE
a. Consider Ordinance No. 5093: An Ordinance Repealing And Replacing Title 15 Of The

McMinnville City Code, Specific To Buildings And Construction, Amending Section 2.50.510,
Specific To Code Compliance - Applicability, And Sections 8,10.250, Health And Safety – Motor
Vehicles, And Section 8.10.035, Health And Safety – Storage.

7. ADJOURNMENT

2

mailto:Claudia.Cisneros@mcminnvilleoregon.gov


 

Page 1 of 10 
 

CITY OF McMINNVILLE 
MINUTES OF CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

Held at the Kent L. Taylor Civic Hall on Gormley Plaza 
McMinnville, Oregon  

 
Tuesday, November 12, 2019 at 6:30 p.m.  

 
Presiding:  Scott Hill, Mayor 
 
Recording Secretary:   Rebecca Holmes 
Councilors:  Present       
 Remy Drabkin   
 Zack Geary   
 Kellie Menke, Council President  
 Sal Peralta     

Wendy Stassens 
Adam Garvin    
      
Also present were:  City Manager Jeff Towery, Finance Director Jennifer 
Cuellar-Smith, Police Chief Matt Scales, Human Resources Manager 
Kylie Bayer, Fire Department Operations Chief Amy Hanifan , and Jerry 
Eichten, McMinnville Community Media.     

 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Hill called the meeting to order at 6:19 p.m.   
 
2. DISCUSSION ON CITY MANAGER EVALUATION:  Sean O’Day, 

Executive Director of Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments 
(MWVCOG). 
 
Mr. O’Day introduced himself and the COG. One of the things they did 
was help facilitate the evaluation of Chief Executive Officers of cities. The 
process they used was an online survey that the Council filled out, the City 
Manager conducted a self-evaluation by filling out the same form, and the 
COG aggregated the Council’s responses into a report. The report also 
provided a bar chart that presented the average Council weighting as well 
as the City Manager’s self-evaluation and there was a table with the 
breakdown of responses. In summary, the average Council weighting in all 
areas was either meets or exceeds job standards and in many areas the 
average weighting went into the outstanding area.  

 City Manager Towery viewed the overall results as positive and consistent 
with respect to the rankings and comments. It gave him the opportunity to 
continue to improve and address the needs of the Council and community. 
There were no surprises as the comments had been topics of conversations 
either at Council meetings or during one on one sessions over the course 
of the year. He thought it was a fair assessment of the work that he did on 

3



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

behalf of the Council. He appreciated the support and constructive 
criticism. He planned to have more structured one on one meetings with 
all members of the Council, reinstituting dinner meetings for the Council, 
and a continued focus on moving forward with the Strategic Plan.  

Councilor Stassens thought a lot of things were going well and those that 
could be improved were shared responsibilities with City Council and how 
they worked together with the City Manager. There were a lot of great 
ideas to address those things. It was a work in progress for all of them. She 
appreciated all of the work the City Manager had done this year. 

Councilor Garvin expressed appreciation for the City Manager’s responses 
on the evaluation and the areas for improvement. He also appreciated all 
of the Council’s comments. 

Council President Menke also appreciated the energy, thought, and 
ingenuity the City Manager had put into the job over the last year. 

Mayor Hill looked forward to having more unity among the Council in 
2020 and having more dialogue with the City Manager. He thought some 
of the City Manger’s strengths were building a strong staff team to support 
the work of the City, his years of experience, and wide-spread knowledge. 
He thought the comments on the evaluation gave dimension to the 1-5 
rating. He thanked the City Manager for his partnership and help in 
solving difficult problems.    

Mr. O’Day stated from a regional perspective, Mr. Towery set the gold 
standard.  

3.    ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Hill adjourned the meeting at 6:33 p.m. 

 

   s/s Claudia Cisneros 
Claudia Cisneros, City Recorder 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

CITY OF McMINNVILLE 
MINUTES OF CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 
Held at the Kent L. Taylor Civic Hall on Gormley Plaza 

McMinnville, Oregon  
 

Tuesday, November 12, 2019 at 7:00 p.m.  
 

Presiding:  Scott Hill, Mayor 
 
Recording Secretary:   Rebecca Holmes 
 
Councilors:  Present       
 Remy Drabkin   
 Zack Geary   
 Kellie Menke, Council President  
 Sal Peralta     

Wendy Stassens 
Adam Garvin    
      
Also present were:  City Attorney Walt Gowell, City Manager Jeff 
Towery, Finance Director Jennifer Cuellar-Smith, Police Chief Matt 
Scales, Human Resources Manager Kylie Bayer, Fire Department 
Operations Chief Amy Hanifan, Planning Director Heather Richards, 
Senior Planner Chuck Darnell, Community Development Director Mike 
Bisset, and Jerry Eichten, McMinnville Community Media.     

 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Hill called the meeting to order at 7:01 p.m. 

and welcomed all in attendance.   
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 Councilor Stassens led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. INVITATION TO CITIZENS FOR PUBIC COMMENT 
 
 Mike Burr, McMinnville resident, worked with homeless populations. He 

discussed how the community had contributed in good faith to the Mission 
and had shut down the C-Wish program. He was concerned that the 
Gospel Mission program was not operating in a manner that addressed the 
chronically mentally ill population in McMinnville. He had been directing 
people to go to the Mission on the nights when it was freezing and he 
learned that the Mission was not planning to open until December 1 no 
matter the temperature. Under some pressure, they marginally opened but 
not in a way that was friendly to the homeless community. In response, 
First Baptist opened an emergency shelter for five days. They met with 
Community Mental Health who confirmed that the Mission was not 
serving the needs of the chronically mentally ill. Something needed to be 

5



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

done immediately. What was promised had not been delivered and they 
needed to make sure that the facilities created by the community were 
being used at their highest and best.   

 
 Councilor Peralta asked how many days during the cold weather snap the 

Mission was closed when it was needed. Mr. Burr stated they were closed 
the first night, and the rest of the nights they said if people called at 8:30, 
they could come at 9. That was unreasonable for the chronically mentally 
ill, those with physical disabilities, and those who did not have phones. 

 
 Doug Johnson, McMinnville resident, wanted the City to grow as an 

inclusive community that celebrated diversity. The Visit McMinnville 
promotional video was not inclusive in the images and quotes. He thought 
the Latino community was being erased and there was no celebration of 
diversity. It was diametrically opposed to the Council’s goal to foster an 
inclusive community. He thought they needed to think critically about the 
kind of community they wanted and how to get there. 

 
 Jan Montgomery, McMinnville resident, discussed the Air Show traffic. It 

was stated that the show ultimately did not cost the City anything to host, 
however it had cost her a totaled car. The highways were messy, there 
were many crashes, and there were no traffic controls for highways and 
for entering Highway 18. She had no objection to another Air Show, 
however she suggested traffic controls for these areas and where the 
guests entered and exited the show.   

 
4. PRESENTATIONS:  
 
4.a. Oregon International Air Show 
 
 Bill Braack, Oregon International Air Show President, agreed that the 

traffic planning was the weakest part and they had some work to do to 
improve that. He introduced Tony Haun, Board Member, Greg Zuthan, 
incoming Board Chair, and Faith Stanfield, Marketing Director. He 
explained the steps taken after the event was approved in June to host the 
Royal Airforce Red Arrows. They had never been to Oregon before. They 
received a lot of support from City staff, key partners, and hanger tenants. 
They met with several community members and business leaders 
throughout the process. Many volunteers helped on the day of the event 
and several groups had received cash donations. They had received a lot of 
feedback from the community with a lot of questions about the next steps 
and future air shows. They looked forward to working with the City and 
community to answer those questions. He presented each Councilor with a 
2019 Air Show Coin and gave the City an Air Show poster. The Council 
gave them a Challenge Coin in return. 

 

6



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

 Councilor Garvin asked if they had a debrief meeting with their partners. 
Mr. Braack said that process was underway.  

 
 Councilor Garvin asked if they hit the attendance projections. Mr. Braack 

said on Saturday they had about 10,000 and on Sunday about 7,000 people 
attended. Given the weather, they were pleased with the event attendance. 

 
 Councilor Garvin asked since the show had been reduced from the size in 

Hillsboro, did they think it was still a worthwhile and profitable endeavor? 
Mr. Braack said they were pleased with the results and were in a good 
position. 

 
 Councilor Peralta thought the show was positively received by most of the 

community. He asked how many complaint calls they got and what were 
the issues. Mr. Braack said the calls were mostly related to noise. The total 
number was about two dozen calls. 

 
 Councilor Drabkin said she had received calls and emails all throughout 

the day about the noise and pollution. 
 
 Councilor Peralta wanted to make sure that the rural, agricultural 

neighbors were notified of the show and that it might impact livestock. 
Mr. Braack said they were notified. He understood that not everyone was 
interested in flying and the effects of the show, however they had 
numerous families with autistic children in attendance who used the noise 
as a form of therapy.  

 
 Councilor Geary encouraged them to pursue zero waste for the event.  
 
 Mayor Hill shared his experiences from the show and how he had received 

positive feedback from citizens. Many students came on Friday to have an 
educational experience as well. On Saturday night many of the sponsors 
and pilots were able to have dinner under the Spruce Goose at the 
Evergreen Aviation & Space Museum. 

 
 Council President Menke stated Saturday was fabulous. 
 
4.b. Historic Landmarks Committee Annual Presentation 
 
 Senior Planner Darnell discussed the Historic Landmarks Committee roles 

and responsibilities including managing the historic resources inventory, 
reviewing alterations to historic resources, conducting survey and studies, 
and raising public awareness of historic resources. He listed the current 
HLC members and discussed the 2019 Work Plan. The accomplishments 
in 2019 included 10 meetings, review of 8 land use applications, Historic 
Preservation Plan, and This Place Matters campaign. Some of the 
applications the Committee reviewed included a new apartment building 

7



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

on 1025 NE 1st Street, demolition of a building on 618 NE 3rd Street, new 
construction at 618 NE 3rd Street, new construction at 903 NE 3rd Street, 
and a home and ADU at 714 SE Washington Street. He discussed the 
upcoming work in 2020. They had applied for and received a Certified 
Local Government Grant of $11,500 to do a reconnaissance level survey, 
updates to historic resources inventory materials, and outreach to owners 
of historic buildings in McMinnville. The survey would include the 
residential areas south of downtown. The RFP would be released in 
November and a consultant would be selected to begin the work in early 
2020. Some other 2020 activities would be promoting National 
Preservation Month in May, continuing the Historic Preservation Award 
program, and focusing on outreach and updates to the website, use of 
social media, and presence at events like the Farmer’s Market.   

 
 Councilor Geary asked about the outreach to historic property owners. 

Senior Planner Darnell said the information was not readily available 
currently, especially for people purchasing property. They wanted to have 
better outreach and share information about the program and the benefits 
of it. They had also talked about trying to do something with the deed that 
would make people more aware of it.  

 
 Councilor Geary asked about the recent issue of non-compliance regarding 

a hand rail. Senior Planner Darnell explained the applicant wanted to 
replace a hand rail on a porch with material that was not the same as the 
rest of the porch. It was not approved by the Committee and that decision 
was appealed to the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission 
upheld the decision of the Committee and the property owner was working 
towards replacing it. 

 
 Councilor Peralta asked if that material was a function of the City code or 

required by State law. Senior Planner Darnell said it was in the code to be 
compliant with the State Administrative Rules related to historic 
preservation and Goal 5. 

 
 Councilor Peralta asked if the code went beyond what was required by the 

State of Federal laws. There was a strong consensus in the downtown 
community that the City ordinances related to redevelopment made it 
more difficult or impeded the redevelopment of some of the historic 
properties on 3rd Street. What they might be left with was knock downs of 
those facades. There was also tension between the requirements of the fire 
code and the historic preservation code which wanted to preserve 
everything in its original form. He suggested reviewing the code to see if 
they were going further than they needed to. He noted Senior Planner 
Darnell and the Historic Landmarks Committee had a lot of respect from 
the community. 

 

8



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

 Planning Director Richards said the City’s historic preservation program 
was mirrored after the State’s standards that also followed the Secretary of 
Interior’s standards. Those were for exterior improvements only. She 
thought all projects had been able to successfully navigate that process. 
She thought the problem was with the building code and there were 
properties downtown where to reactivate a vacant space took more to 
bring it up to code. The two big investments were fire and seismic 
upgrades and there were property owners struggling through that process. 
It was a fire code/building code issue, not historic preservation program 
issue. There were two state programs that looked at interior rehabilitation 
projects where the interior was also regulated. There were no projects in 
the City that were actively participating in those programs. Sometimes 
there was conflict with the historic regulations and preserving historic 
integrity and meeting building code requirements. The state recently 
adopted the International Existing Building Code which would make it 
easier to rehab historic properties and still get to the same safety 
thresholds in terms of fire and seismic safety. 

 
 Senior Planner Darnell clarified that they had changed the code to be 

compliant with the State Administrative Rules and Secretary of Interior’s 
standards, but did not add any additional regulations to them.  

 Councilor Peralta was concerned that there were residents who had 
historic homes and did not know it. They might have a financial situation 
when they had to update. 

 
 Planning Director Richards said there was the ability to do an 

administrative review based on the amount of change proposed to the 
landmark which would be less expensive than taking it to the Historic 
Landmarks Committee. She agreed there was an issue with property 
owners knowing they had historic landmarks and they were trying to 
figure out a method to get that recorded so people would know when they 
purchased a property. In the 1980s they went through a comprehensive 
review of all properties that were 50 years or older and a lot of properties 
hit the landmarks list. They had discussed revisiting that landmarks list to 
make sure the right properties were on the list and in the right category 
and that the categories were being reviewed in the right way. It took time 
and they were working through the process. 

 
 Senior Planner Darnell said that would be one of the outcomes of the 

consultant work. After the survey, they would provide recommendations 
for updates to the inventory. 

 
 Councilor Stassens asked what the most effective way to get the 

information to citizens was. Senior Planner Darnell said they planned to 
use social media, have a presence at events, and partner with people to get 
the word out. 

 

9



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

 Planning Director Richards clarified the Committee had a goal for 
education and outreach. They would be using some of the grant funds to 
put the resources in one place to give people easy access to the 
information about the properties and to educate them about the value of 
historic properties and the stories they were sharing. 

 
 Councilor Stassens agreed there was a struggle to get the word out because 

there wasn’t one place people could go to get the information. She 
suggested engaging the real estate community to help with the education. 

 
 Planning Director Richards said one of the last pieces they wanted to do 

was set up a resource center where they could have the right team to do 
the work so people could access the information.  

 
 Mayor Hill was impressed with the Committee’s strength, understanding, 

and knowledge.  
 
5. ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
 City Manager Towery introduced new Finance Director Jennifer Cuellar-

Smith. 
 
 Finance Director Cuellar-Smith stated she was thrilled to join the team. 
 
5.a. Reports from Councilors on Committee & Board Assignments 
 
 Councilor Geary stated the Historic Landmarks Committee would meet on 

Thursday and the Landscape Review Committee would meet tomorrow. 
The Kids on the Block were still waiting for the joint meeting with the 
School Board and City. 

 
 Councilor Drabkin said the last two Housing for the Homeless 

Subcommittee meetings had been canceled, however the work was still 
continuing. One of the projects was taking a County owned foreclosed 
property to turn it into a safe house. The Affordable Housing Task Force 
met and discussed potential housing opportunities with Oregon Housing 
and Community Services, did a map review of the City for affordable 
housing project locations, and discussed Action Plan revisions. The City 
hosted the Department of Land Conservation and Development regarding 
HB 2001 and 2003. There was an upcoming community meeting on the 
Floating Zone concept. There were also openings on the Task Force. 

 
 Councilor Stassens reported on the Urban Renewal Advisory Committee 

meeting where the budget and projects that had not moved forward such as 
wayfinding and the rooftop lighting were discussed. They also discussed a 
restaurant off of Lafayette that was requesting a drive-thru. That would 
require an amendment to the Gateway District standards. 

10



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

 
 Councilor Garvin reported YCOM would be meeting on Thursday. At the 

last meeting YCOM voted to collect Air Show fees from the City since the 
Air Show did not reimburse them. 

 
 Councilor Peralta had talked with a property owner on Alpine who was 

concerned about the foot traffic that had not materialized on the street yet. 
It was negatively impacting the anchor businesses. He encouraged 
anything that would bring more gravity of business investment there. The 
Council of Governments Executive Committee met and voted to be the 
Agency of Record for the new Marion/Polk Continuum of Care, however 
Yamhill County was not participating at this time. Earlier this fall he 
pointed out Multnomah County and Portland had adopted laws to regulate 
contributions and expenditures for elections. He encouraged the Council to 
adopt a new ordinance that would address campaign finance disclaimers 
and disclosures and contribution limits modeled after the Portland statute. 
He made a presentation to the Oregon Board of Forestry about a program 
to increase investment for reforesting private lands and to set up and 
market a protocol for carbon sequestration.  

 
 Council President Menke endorsed the financial reporting suggested by 

Councilor Peralta. There were three openings on the Budget Committee. 
Visit McMinnville met last week and discussed the economic 
development process for the Urban Growth Boundary Project Advisory 
Committee. There would be a PAC meeting tomorrow. 

 
 Planning Director Richards clarified the Public Advisory Committee was 

working on public and employment land needs for the City. Tomorrow 
they would be looking at the Buildable Lands Inventory maps. For the 
public lands discussion, they had visited with different agencies and City 
staff. They would also be making sure there were enough employment 
lands to implement the Economic Development Strategic Plan and to 
employ future residents. 

 
 Mayor Hill reported on the Mid-Willamette Advisory Transportation 

Committee meeting where they set the 2020 priority which was the 
Newberg Dundee Bypass. The Oregon Transportation Commission would 
be meeting on November 21 and he planned to attend. This Friday would 
be the County Housing Solutions meeting in Newberg. The Local 
Governments Dinner would be on November 21 and City Holiday Dinner 
would be on December 13. 

 
5.b.   Department Head Reports 

Fire Department Operations Chief Hanifan said they had hired a new Day 
Medic who would be starting at the end of the month. 

Finance Director Cuellar-Smith said the auditors were in the house. 

11



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

Community Development Director Bisset reported on the Airport 
Commission meeting where an operational update was given. Some lights 
on the main runway had been out and electricians had repaired them. They 
also discussed pavement strength and heavy equipment, the runway apron 
project which would be done in 2021, airport layout update in 2024, and 
recent land use compliance inspection. The inspection resulted in the City 
needing to seek interim approval for the Comcast lease and Oregon State 
Police lease and to produce an Exhibit A property map of the airport that 
documented the history of the acquisition of property parcels and receipt 
of federal funds over time which would be the basis for future property 
decisions. They also needed to update some lease language and revisit the 
minimum commercial standards. Several parties had been interested in 
constructing new hangars at the airport. Staff was working on the bid 
documents for refurbishing the Jet AA tank. Some tree obstructions would 
be removed in the runway approaches. There was one opening on the 
Commission and interviews were scheduled for next week. 

Planning Director Richards announced two openings on the Planning 
Commission and youth liaison opportunities on the Historic Landmarks 
Committee, Landscape Review Committee, Urban Renewal Advisory 
Committee, and Planning Commission. 

City Manager Towery said he was appointed to the Host Committee for 
the ICMA Conference in 2020 which would be in Toronto. He would be at 
a Host Committee planning meeting December 6-8. 

6.   CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Consider Minutes of the July 23, 2019 Work Session and Regular 
City Council Meeting.   

Councilor Drabkin MOVED to adopt the consent agenda as presented; 
SECONDED by Councilor Peralta. Motion PASSED unanimously. 

7.   ADJOURN:  The meeting was adjourned at 8:47 pm.   

 

 

____________________________________ 

 Claudia Cisneros, City Recorder 

 

12



 
 

 P a g e  | 1 

City of McMinnville 
Fire Department 
175 NE 1st Street 

McMinnville, OR  97128 
(503) 435-5800 

www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov 
 

 
STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE: June 25, 2019  
TO: Mayor and City Councilors 
FROM: Rich Leipfert, Fire Chief 
SUBJECT: Resolution # 2020-45 Approving Purchase of New Monitor/Defibrillators for Fire 

Department 
STRATEGIC PRIORITY & GOAL:  

 
OBJECTIVE/S: Provide exceptional police, municipal court, fire, emergency medical services 
EMS), utility services and public works 
 
 
Report in Brief:  The cost of this project requires City Council Authorization. This resolution authorizes 
the purchase of the new EMS equipment from capital funds.  The quote has been obtained through a 
cooperative purchasing procurement process of which we are a member.       
Background:  On June 23, 2020, the City Council adopted the 2020-2021 annual budget.  One capital 
purchase in the budget for the Fire Department was for Monitor/Defibrillators to replace existing units.  
The current units are no longer serviced or supported by the manufacturer.  As a result we have had to 
contract with other companies using parts to repair our equipment.  Down time of the current units has 
increased and many do not have all of the functionality of communicating directly with the hospitals that 
we need to have.   
Discussion:   The Monitor/Defibrillators are a key piece of equipment used by our medics when 
handling cardiac emergencies.  They provide the opportunity for our medics to treat everything from 
irregular heart rhythms to cardiac arrest.  Our Physician Sponsor asked that we evaluate models that 
have the ability to increase electrical therapy levels above a preset standard.  This quote includes these 
models.  The EMS team of the department participated in an evaluation process to select the model 
and manufacturer that provided the ability of our medics to best meet the needs of our community.   
 
Attachments:   
 
Quote from Stryker Medical 
Resolution 2020-45 
 
Fiscal Impact: $255,456.61 
 
 
Recommendation:  Approval of resolution # 2020-45  

13

http://www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov/


 
Resolution No. 2020-45 
Effective Date: July 14, 2020 
Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020 – 45 
 
 

 A Resolution authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract with Stryker 
Medical through the Houston Galveston Area Cooperative Purchasing Program (HGAC) 
for the purchase of eight (8) new Physio Control LIFEPAK 15 Monitor/Defibrillator’s.  
 
 
RECITALS: 
 

The Monitor/Defibrillators are a key piece of equipment used by our medics when 
handling cardiac emergencies.  They provide the opportunity for our medics to treat 
everything from irregular heart rhythms to cardiac arrest.  Our Physician Sponsor asked 
that we evaluate models that have the ability to increase electrical therapy levels above 
a preset standard.  This quote includes these models.  The EMS team of the 
department participated in an evaluation process to select the model and manufacturer 
that provided the ability of our medics to best meet the needs of our medics to best 
meet the needs of our community.   

 
The current units are no longer serviced or supported by the manufacturer.  As a 

result we have had to contract with other companies using parts to repair our 
equipment.  Down time of the current units has increased and many do not have all of 
the functionality of communicating directly with the hospitals that we need to have. 

 
Physio Control products that met our requirements were competitively bid 

through the HGAC process and awarded Contract number EE008-19.  It has been 
verified that purchases for goods and services made through HGAC meet purchasing 
requirements as established by Oregon Revised Statutes.  Stryker Medical is the 
Vendor for Physio Control Monitors/Defibrillators.    
 

Funding for the new Monitor/Defibrillator’s is included in the adopted FY 20-21 
Fire Department. Ambulance Capital Fund.  

 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF McMinnville, OREGON, as follows: 
 

1. That entry into the Contract with Stryker Medical for the purchase of eight 
(8) Physio Control, LIFEPAK 15 Defibrillators in the amount of $255,456.61 
is hereby approved.  

 2. The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute the contract 
with Stryker Medical. 

 3. That this resolution shall take effect immediately upon passage and shall 
continue in full force and effect until revoked or replaced.  

 

14



Resolution No. 2020-45 
Effective Date: July 14, 2020 
Page 2 of 2 

 Adopted by the Common Council of the City of McMinnville at a regular meeting 
held the 14th day of July 2020 by the following votes: 
 
 Ayes:             
 
 Nays:             
 

Abstain:                      
 
 
Approved this 14th day of July 2020. 
 
 
       
MAYOR 
 
 
Approved as to form:     Attest: 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
City Attorney      City Recorder 
 

15



16



17



18



19



20



 
 

 P a g e  | 1 

City of McMinnville 
Finance Department 

230 NE Second Street 
McMinnville, OR  97128 

(503) 434-2350 
www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov 

 
STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE: July 14, 2020  
TO: Jeff Towery, City Manager 
FROM: Jennifer Cuellar, Finance Director 
SUBJECT:  Sub-grant CARES Act agreement with McMinnville Water and Light  
MANDATE:   Federal Uniform Grant Guidance 2 CRF 200 
 
 
 STRATEGIC PRIORITY & GOAL: 

  

 
 
Report in Brief:  
This action is the consideration of a resolution to enter into a sub-grant agreement with McMinnville 
Water and Light for federal CARES Act funding.  

Background:  
With the passage of the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), Oregon 
received over $1.6 billion through the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF). The Governor and legislative 
leaders chose to share these funds with municipal organizations in the statewide fight against the virus. 

Support for local governments is an important component of the effort to address pandemic-related 
costs. The federal government sent $246.8 million directly to jurisdictions with populations over 500,000: 
Washington County, Multnomah County, and the city of Portland. For cities, counties, and special 
districts that did not receive CRF funds directly from the federal government, the state is committing $400 
million of its CRF funds: $200 million will be set aside to directly reimburse expenses incurred related to 
COVID-19; and $200 million will be used to continue covering costs related to personal protective 
equipment, testing, contact tracing, and isolation/quarantine. 

Discussion:  
Under the authority granted in the City’s Declaration of Emergency, the City Manager signed an initial 
federal funding certification for the State of Oregon on May 20, 2020, and a grant agreement with the 
State of Oregon on June 29, 2020, regarding the City’s participation in the CRF program for costs 
associated with the response to and mitigation of the Covid-19 public health emergency. 

At a June 18, 2020, meeting between staff of the Department of Administrative Services of the State of 
Oregon, McMinnville Water and Light and the City of McMinnville the unique circumstances of the CRF 
program and our jurisdictions was discussed. The state clarified that the standards it used to define local 

21

http://www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov/


 
 

 P a g e  | 2 

jurisdiction eligibility mean that the costs for covid-19 activities for McMinnville Water and Light that are 
eligible under the CRF must be passed through the City of McMinnville. The federal uniform grant 
guidance under 2 CFR 200 requires that this relationship be established with a sub-recipient grant 
agreement. For these reason counsel at the two local entities drafted a sub-grant agreement governing 
the CRF grant responsibilities between the two jurisdictions. 

Fiscal Impact: 
Strictly on a financial basis, the funds to be paid McMinnville Water and Light are reimbursements of their 
own grant-eligible expenditures. 
 
Because the sub-grant agreement terms include a provision that should any of the sub-grantee’s 
expenses later be deemed ineligible for this program, McMinnville Water and Light will reimburse any 
amount the City is required to return to the donor agency. 

 
Recommendation:   
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the attached resolution authorizing the City Manager 
to enter into the sub-grant agreement for the CRF program with McMinnville Water and Light. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Resolution No. 2020-46 
2. Sub-grant agreement 
3. Sub-grant agreement Exhibit 1 (Grant agreement between the State and the City of 

McMinnville) 
4. Sub-grant agreement Exhibit 2 (McMinnville Water and Light project budget) 
 
 

22



Resolution No. 2020-46 
Effective Date: July 14, 2020 
Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020 - 46 
 

 A Resolution authorizing the City Manager to enter into a sub-grant agreement with 
McMinnville Water and Light for CARES Act funding through the Coronavirus Relief Fund 
program.  
 
RECITALS:   

 The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, included $1.6 billion 
for Oregon through the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF), $400 million of which has been 
designated by the Legislature and Governor for use by local government entities.  

 On May 20, 2020, the City Manager signed a federal funding certificate and on June 29, 
2020, signed Grant Agreement 1088 with the State of Oregon, both executed under the 
authority of the City’s Declaration of Emergency for the Covid-19 public health crisis, to 
establish the City of McMinnville’s ability to participate in the CRF program.  

 On June 18, 2020, the State of Oregon clarified that the eligible expenses to be 
reimbursed with the CRF funds from McMinnville Water and Light must be passed through the 
City of McMinnville.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF McMINNVILLE, OREGON, as follows: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute the sub-grant 
agreement with McMinnville Water and Light associated for the CARES Act Grant 
Agreement 1088 signed between the State of Oregon and the City of McMinnville. 

2. This Resolution will take effect immediately upon passage. 

 
Adopted by the Common Council of the City of McMinnville at a regular meeting held the 

14th day of July 2020 by the following votes: 
  
 Ayes:              
 
 Nays:              
 
 Abstain:                                 
 
 
Approved this 14th day of July 2020. 
 
 
     ____________  
MAYOR 
 
 
Approved as to form:     Attest: 
 
 
                          
City Attorney       City Recorder 

23



1  - SUBGRANT AGREEMENT:  CARES ACT GRANT 
 

SUBGRANT AGREEMENT 
 
This Subgrant Agreement ("this Agreement") is entered into between the City of 

McMinnville (“Grantee”, "Local Jurisdiction" or "City of McMinnville"), and the City of 
McMinnville, acting by and through its Water and Light Commission ("Subgrantee, 
"McMinnville Water and Light," or "MW&L").  

 
RECITALS 

 
A. The Local Jurisdiction (City of McMinnville) is receiving the following grant from the 

State of Oregon acting by and through its Department of Administrative Services 
("Agency" or "State"): 
1. Pursuant to funding available under section 601(a) of the Social Security Act, as 

added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 
(collectively “the CARES Act” or “Acts”) the Department of Administrative Services 
("Agency") is authorized to enter into a grant agreement with the Grantee (City of 
McMinnville) and provide funding for the purposes described in the Grant No. 1088, 
attached as Exhibit 1, incorporated herein by this reference (“the Cares Act 
Grant”). 

B. Subgrantee is a subdivision of the City of McMinnville under the McMinnville City 
Charter and a municipal electric and water utility under state law. 

C.  As provided in Exhibit 1, a portion of the Grant Funds awarded in Grant N0. 1088 are 
based on qualifying Project expenditures made by Subgrantee, as further set forth in 
Exhibit 2. (“Subgrant Project Budget”). 

D.  By this intergovernmental agreement, pursuant to ORS 190.110(4) the parties intend that 
the Grantee will act for itself and on behalf of MW&L to receive and disburse Grant 
Funds to itself and to Subgrantee in a manner consistent with the Subgrant Project 
Budget.  

 
THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows 
I. ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES 

A. For the use of Grant Funds, eligible Project activities are defined in the Exhibit A of the 
Cares Act Grant agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

II. RESPONSIBILITIES OF LOCAL JURISDICTION 
Local Jurisdiction has these responsibilities: 
A. The local jurisdiction is responsible to comply with the Cares Act Grant as set forth in 

Exhibit 1; and  
B.  Make disbursements to Subgrantee pursuant to this Subgrant Agreement and the Cares 

Act Grant in a manner consistent with the Subgrant Project Budget (Exhibit 2); and  
C. Grant Agreement Responsibilities: With regard to the Grant Agreement Local 

Jurisdiction shall:  
1) Monitor and Oversee Subgrantee.  With regard to activities carried out by Subgrantee 

under the Grant Agreement, Local Jurisdiction shall: 
a) Provide monitoring and oversight as required by the grant agreement; 
b) Ensure that Subgrantee complies with the CARES Act and Regulations, and the 

terms of this subgrant agreement; 

24



2  - SUBGRANT AGREEMENT:  CARES ACT GRANT 
 

c) To the extent allowed under Section VII of this Agreement (Suspension and 
Termination), recover on behalf of the state any liabilities that may arise as the 
result of the breach of the Grant Agreement by Subgrantee; 

d) Meet with Subgrantee as necessary to monitor Project requirements and ensure 
that all Project activities comply with the Acts and Regulations. Participants will 
review applications and other Project documentation to ensure that Project 
requirements are being met in a timely manner; 

e) Identify City of McMinnville personnel to work with Subgrantee to ensure that all 
Project requirements are being met in a timely manner; 

f) Other miscellaneous items such as required by the grant. 
2) Timeliness – Act timely with regard to the grant agreement. 

D. Insurance. Local Jurisdiction shall maintain at all times insurance as required by Section 
12 and Exhibit B of the Cares Act Grant agreement (Exhibit 1 attached hereto). 

E. Notices. Local Jurisdiction shall provide Subgrantee with a copy of all notices received 
by the Local Jurisdiction from the State related to this Subgrant Agreement. 

F. Other Responsibilities. Local Jurisdiction shall fulfill any other responsibilities it has 
undertaken in this Agreement and in the Grant Agreement. 

 
III. RESPONSIBILITIES OF SUBGRANTEE 

A. Generally 
1. Subgrantee shall meet with Grantee as necessary to ensure that all requirements for 

Project activities under the Grant and related Acts are met in a timely manner. 
2. Subgrantee shall work closely with the Grantee (City of McMinnville) personnel who 

shall be appointed to ensure compliance with terms of conditions of the Cares Act 
Grant agreement.  

3. Subgrantee shall repay to Grantee any portion of subgrant payment as a result of 
noncompliance of all this Agreement, or the repayment of funds to the State of 
Oregon received pursuant to the Grant Agreement and further received by MW&L, 
not limited to the above responsibilities. 

4. Gain authority from its governing body to enter to Agreement. 
B. Grant Agreement Responsibilities. 

Subgrantee shall perform the following tasks as they relate to the Grant No. 1088 (the 
Cares Act Grant): 

1. Grant Administration: Grant administration duties include but are not limited to: 
a) Prepare grant budgets, schedules and amendments (related to subgrant); 
b) Set up systems to assure compliance with state and federal program requirements. 

For example: grant accounting system; and 
d) Assisting Local Jurisdiction in meeting report submissions and other 

requirements, as applicable; and 
e) Prepare documents and reports as required and provide them to the local 

jurisdiction for review; and 
f) Prepare all required reports in a timely fashion and submit to the Local 

Jurisdiction for review in time to allow for the meeting of specific deadlines 
required by the grant; and 

g) As required by Section 10.4 of the Cares Act Grant, if as result of the subgrant 
Subgrantee is exposed to or acquires Confidential Information, Subgrantee will 

25



3  - SUBGRANT AGREEMENT:  CARES ACT GRANT 
 

treat and maintain such information in the same manner as is required of Grantee 
under subsections 10.1and 10.2 of grant Section 10. 

h) Comply with all other requirements of the Grant Agreement applicable to the 
funds received by MW&L, all of which requirements are hereby incorporated into 
this Agreement by this reference. 

2. Project Management: Subgrantee shall perform all tasks necessary for the subgrant to 
Subgrantee.  

3. Maintenance of Case Files and Other Records: 
a) The Subgrantee will maintain subgrant financial records in accordance with 

Section 19 of the Cares Act Grant agreement. 
C. Staffing 

1. Subgrantee shall assign such staff as is appropriate to carry out its responsibilities in a 
timely and professional manner. 

 
IV. TIME OF PERFORMANCE 

A. Grant Agreement Services: N/A 
 
V. COMPENSATION 

A. Grant Agreement Services: N/A 
 
VI. NOTICES 

Notices required by this Agreement shall be in writing and mailed by first class mail. Until 
otherwise notified in writing, notices shall be directed to the following representatives: 

 
A. Grant Manager is: 
 
Jennifer Cuellar 
230 NE 2nd Street 
McMinnville, OR 97128 
Phone: 503-434-2350 
Email: Jennifer.Cuellar@mcminnvilleoregon.gov 
 
B. Subgrantee’s Manager is:  
 
Mark Dunmire 
PO Box 638,  
McMinnville, OR 97128 
Phone: 503-472-6158 
Email: markd@mc-power.com 

 
VII. SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

A. Voluntary Termination: Subject to the terms of the Cares Act Grant agreement (Exhibit 
1) the parties may jointly agree to terminate this Agreement, upon such terms and 
conditions as they mutually agree. 

B. Involuntary Termination 
1. Written Notice and Opportunity to Cure. If either party substantially fails to comply 

with any material term of this Agreement, or with any of the rules, regulations or 

26

mailto:Jennifer.Cuellar@mcminnvilleoregon.gov


4  - SUBGRANT AGREEMENT:  CARES ACT GRANT 
 

provisions referred to herein, the other party shall give written notice of such 
noncompliance to the party allegedly in default. The notice shall state the specific 
manner in which the party has failed to comply with this Agreement or rules, and 
shall give that party no less than 30 days, or such longer time as may be reasonably 
necessary under the circumstances, in which to remedy such breach. If such 
noncompliance is not corrected within the time provided, the party not in default may 
suspend or terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part. 

2. Suspension of Payments. If there is evidence of fraud or misappropriation of funds, 
the Local Jurisdiction may withhold any further compensation to Subgrantee, until 
such time as the Subgrantee is in compliance with this Agreement. 

3. Remedies.  Remedies are limited by the Cares Act Grant agreement (Exhibit 1; 
Section 16). 
a) If there is a material breach by Subgrantee Local Jurisdiction shall be entitled to 

recover from the Subgrantee any sums that may become due as a result of a 
breach of this Agreement by Subgrantee. 

b) In the event of termination by Local Jurisdiction, Subgrantee may pursue any 
remedy allowed in law or equity.  

 
VII. GENERAL CONDITIONS 

A. General Compliance. Both parties agree to comply with the Cares Act Grant and the 
terms and conditions set forth in the Acts and to comply with all other applicable Federal, 
state and local laws, regulations, and policies governing the funds provided under this 
Agreement. 

B. Conflict of Interest. No employee, agent, consultant, officer, or elected or appointed 
official of the Local Jurisdiction or the Subgrantee receiving Grant Funds who exercises 
or has exercised any functions or responsibilities with respect to Project activities who is 
in a position to participate in a decision-making process or gain inside information with 
regard to such activities, may obtain a financial interest or benefit from the activity, or 
have an interest or benefit from the activity, or have any interest or benefit, direct or 
indirect, in any contract, subcontract, or agreement with respect thereto, or the proceeds 
thereunder, for themselves or those with whom they have family or business ties, as 
defined in the program policies, during his/her tenure or for one year thereafter, in 
accordance with 24 CFR Part 570.489(h}. 

C. Independent Contractor. 
1. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or shall be construed in any manner, as 

creating or establishing the relationship of employer/employee between the parties. 
The Subgrantee shall be responsible exclusively for payment of all Unemployment 
Compensation, FICA, retirement, life and/or medical insurance and Workers' 
Compensation Insurance for its officers, agents and employees. 

2. The Subgrantee and Local Jurisdiction agree that there is no relationship under this 
agreement except as specified herein. The Local Jurisdiction exercises no control 
over, is not responsible for the acts of, and assumes no specific responsibilities to or 
for officers, employees or agents or the public in general, except as specified in this 
Agreement. The Subgrantee shall not claim any relationship with the Local 
Jurisdiction as agent, representative or employee which is not expressly set forth in 
this agreement. 

27



5  - SUBGRANT AGREEMENT:  CARES ACT GRANT 
 

D. Third Party Beneficiaries. Except for the State of Oregon, nothing in this Agreement, 
expressed or implied, is intended to confer upon any person, other than the parties to this 
Agreement, any right or remedy of any nature whatsoever. 

E. Indemnification and Hold Harmless.  To the extent permitted by the Constitution and 
Statutes of the State of Oregon, including but not limited to the Oregon Tort Claims Act, 
each party shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify the other party from any and all 
claims, actions, suits, charges, and judgments whatsoever that arise out of the party's 
performance or nonperformance of the services or subject matter called for in this 
Agreement, or the receipt of funds that are later determined by the State of Oregon to be 
recoverable pursuant to the Grant Agreement. 

F. Insurance 
1. The Subgrantee will comply with Exhibit B of the Local Jurisdiction grant 

agreement (Cares Act Grant, Exhibit 1, hereto) with regard to the Agency. 
G. Assignment. Either party may assign this Agreement, but only with the prior written 

consent of the other party.. 
H. Amendments 

1. The Local Jurisdiction and Subgrantee may amend this Agreement at any time 
provided that such amendments make specific reference to this Agreement, and are 
executed in writing, signed by a duly authorized representative of both organizations, 
and pre-approved, by the Local Jurisdiction's and MW&L’s (Subgrantee’s)  highest 
elected official or Certifying Officer and . 

2. The Local .Jurisdiction may, in its discretion, amend this Agreement to conform with 
Federal, state or local governmental guidelines, policies and available funding 
amounts, or for other reasons. Local Jurisdiction shall notify Subgrantee in writing of 
any such amendment. If such amendments result in a change in the funding, the scope 
of services, or schedule of the activities to be undertaken as part of this Agreement, 
such modifications must be by written amendment, and pre-approved by the Local 
Jurisdiction and Subgrantee. 

3. Changes to the project goals, schedule, or budget related to the Grant Agreement may 
be made only through a written amendment to this Agreement, signed by the 
Subgrantee and Local Jurisdiction. The State shall have a minimum of ten days to 
review proposed amendments prior to signing by the parties. 

I. Attorney Fees. Each party is responsible for its own attorney fees. 
J. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, the reminder of the 

Agreement shall not be affected thereby and all other parts of this Agreement shall 
nevertheless be in full force and effect. 

 
IX. ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS 

A. Documentation and Record-keeping. 
1. Records to be maintained. 

a) Subgrantee shall maintain all records as described in the Cares Act Grant 
agreement at subsection 19.13 (Records Maintenance and Access).  Exhibit 1, 
attached hereto. 

2. Close-Outs. Subgrantee's Grant Agreement obligations to the Local Jurisdiction shall 
not end until the State determines that the project can be administratively closed. 

3. Audits and Inspections 

28



6  - SUBGRANT AGREEMENT:  CARES ACT GRANT 
 

a) Audits shall be conducted as described in the Cares Act Grant, Exhibit C of 
Exhibit 1 attached hereto.  

4. Procurement. To the extent applicable, Subgrantee shall procure all materials, 
property or services in accordance with state law and applicable federal law.  

 
X. OTHER CONDITIONS RELATED TO GRANT AGREEMENT  

A. Federal Terms. Subgrantee will comply with federal terms described in Section 2 of 
Exhibit C of the Cares Act Grant (grant document attached hereto as Exhibit 1).   
1.  Subgrantee must comply with 41 U.S.C. 4712, Program for Enhancement of 

Employee Whistleblower Protection.  Subgrantee must inform contractors and 
employees, in writing, in the predominant language of the workforce, of the employee 
whistle blower rights and protections under 41 USC § 4712. 

2.  Subgrantee will comply with audit provisions described in Exhibit C to the Care Act 
Grant (Exhibit 1, hereto).

 
XI. EFFECTIVE DATE: The effective date of this Agreement is _____________, 2020. 

CITY OF McMINNVILLE 
 
                                                  
Jeff Towery 
City Manager  
DATE:                                                  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
                                     
City Attorney 

29



7  - SUBGRANT AGREEMENT:  CARES ACT GRANT 
 

McMINNVILLE WATER AND LIGHT 
 
                                    Date                 
Scott A. Hill, Mayor and Ex-Officio member of the Water and Light Commission 
 
ATTEST: 
 
                                    Date: ____       
Trena McManus 
Clerk of the Commission 
 

 

 

List of Exhibits: 

Exhibit 1. Grant Agreement (Exhibit A – Project; Exhibit B – Insurance; Exhibit C – Federal 
Terms and Conditions). 

Exhibit 2. Subgrant Project Budget  

30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



P a g e  | 1 

City of McMinnville 
Planning Department 

231 NE Fifth Street 
McMinnville, OR  97128 

(503) 434-7311
www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov 

STAFF REPORT 
DATE: July 14, 2020  
TO: Mayor and City Councilors 
FROM: Heather Richards, Planning Director 
SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 5093 – Amendments to Title 15 of the McMinnville 

Municipal Code, Buildings and Construction 

STRATEGIC PRIORITY & GOAL:  

OBJECTIVE/S: Build a community culture of safety (consider safety best practices) 

Report in Brief:  

This is the consideration of Ordinance No. 5093, amending Title 15 of the McMinnville Municipal Code 
(MMC), entitled Buildings and Construction.  This ordinance repeals the existing Title 15 and replaces it 
with Title 15 as described in Exhibit A of Ordinance No. 5093.  (Please see attached Ordinance 
No. 5093). 

Ordinance No. 5093 also amends Section 2.50.510, Applicability of Code Compliance Chapter, and 
Section 8.10.250, Motor Vehicles and adds Section 8.10.035, Storage, of the MMC. 

Background:  

Chapter 15 of the MMC has not been updated substantially since 1978, and an evaluation to this part 
of the MMC has been identified as an action in the MAC Town 2032 Strategic Plan under the goal of 
Community Safety and Resiliency, and strategy, proactively plan for and responsively maintain a 
safe and resilient community.   

The Building Official, Fire Marshall and Code Compliance team have been meeting regularly to discuss 
what is in the code, how it can be improved to serve our community and if there are any other programs 
that we should bring to City Council for consideration under this chapter. 

The team reviewed the following policies, projects and programs and discussed them in a work session 
with the City Council on April 22, 2020. 

• Building Codes: Until 2019, the authority to address dangerous buildings has resided with
municipal building departments across the State.  This was authority included in the building
codes, adopted by Oregon, and administered locally.  In 2019, an attorney general’s opinion
clarified and significantly reduced the authority of building departments. As a result, there are

56

http://www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov/


 
 

 P a g e  | 2 

several areas of regulation and compliance that may be of benefit to adopt locally that are no 
longer included in the Oregon codes.  For example, regulations on grading, demolition, signs, 
and dangerous buildings. 

 
• Fire Codes: Chapter 15 of the MMC describes the purpose and application of the Fire Codes 

within the City of McMinnville.  The Fire Marshal reviewed the existing code language and found 
that it is antiquated in many aspects.  The current code references the Uniform Fire Code which 
no longer exists as well has many sections that are no longer needed because they have been 
incorporated in the current state adopted fire code.  While looking into rewriting McMinnville’s 
Fire Code section the Fire Marshal explored ideas that will help them be successful well into the 
future by utilizing general and not specific wording to reduce the need for continual updates. 
Also, the Fire Marshal provided some suggested amendments that would allow them to enforce 
specific areas of the code through local appeals and code enforcement processes. 

 
• Adoption of the IPMC 2018 International Property Maintenance Code: In response to 

increased requests to address dangerous and dilapidated residential structures, the Code 
Compliance team researched and evaluated the IPMC 2018 International Property Maintenance 
Code as a remedy. This code discusses topics such as secured windows and doors, room 
temperature, moisture, plumbing and electrical requirements, as well as dangerous structures. 
The team explored how this code could help the City respond to complaints of substandard and 
unsafe living situations, both rentals and owned, etc.  

 
• House Moving Regulations:  The City is refreshing the current house moving regulations from 

1980. Some changes explored include expanding the permit application review process to 
include McMinnville Water & Light, ODOT and the McMinnville Police Department, as well as 
the City’s building and engineering departments. The goal of the revision is to insure that all 
necessary parties have an opportunity to vet the moving routes and methods, as well as the 
scheduling of the moves. Although these types of projects don’t happen frequently, the City 
should be prepared to thoroughly review any upcoming house moving permit applications.  

 
• Rental Housing Inspection Program:  The Code Compliance team researched the viability of 

a Rental Housing Inspection Program in McMinnville.  The purpose of the Rental Housing 
Inspection Program is to address the issue of substandard rental properties, promote greater 
compliance with health and safety standards and preserve the quality of McMinnville 
neighborhoods and available housing. The program achieves compliance of health, safety and 
welfare code violations in/on residential rental properties that are a threat to the occupant's 
safety, and a negative impact on the surrounding neighborhoods. Code Compliance will work 
with tenants and landlord to improve the quality of the City’s rental housing stock and its ability 
to support the health of McMinnville’s renters; particularly low income and minority households 
that are already at higher risk of poor health.” 

 
Discussion:  
After receiving direction from the City Council to move forward with the proposed code amendments, 
the team elected to bring the code amendments to the City Council in two separate packages, the first 
in July and the second in August.   
 
This first package contains proposed amendments to the MMC that address the following areas: 
 

• Building Codes – This Chapter of the proposed amendments identifies how the building 
inspection program will be administered by the City of McMinnville (permits, inspections and 
fees), including the building codes that will be utilized (including the adoption of the International 
Property Maintenance Code) as well as the adoption of Appendix J of the International Building 

57



 
 

 P a g e  | 3 

Code for grading on private property.  The proposed amendments allow the Building Official to 
approve alternate materials, methods of design and methods of construction, modifications, 
right of entry to a property to make an inspection, issue stop work orders and mitigate unsafe 
buildings.  In addition any violation of this Chapter that is not considered an immediate danger 
to the public health and safety is determined to be a public nuisance and will be noticed, abated 
and appealed per the process described in Chapter 2.50 of the MMC in order to streamline code 
enforcement.  (Please see attached Chapter 2.50 of the MMC).    

 
• Fire Codes – This Chapter of the proposed amendments affirms the adoption and 

implementation of the Oregon Fire Code in the City of McMinnville with local modifications, the 
need for fire protection system maintenance, and fire season restrictions.  In addition any 
violation of this Chapter that is not considered an immediate danger to the public health and 
safety is determined to be a public nuisance and will be noticed, abated and appealed per the 
process described in Chapter 2.50 of the MMC in order to streamline code enforcement.      

 
• Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction – This Chapter of the proposed 

amendments updates and carries forward from the previous Title language the standard 
specifications for public works construction that the City of McMinnville adopts by reference.   

 
• House Moving Regulations – This Chapter of the proposed amendments updates the process 

and procedures for moving a house in the City of McMinnville, establishing the requirement for a 
permit, application and fee for the process.  This Chapter also incorporates a previous chapter 
of Title 15, exempting the relocation of historic landmarks within the City of McMinnville from 
certain fees and system development charges.  And finally, in addition any violation of this 
Chapter that is not considered an immediate danger to the public health and safety is 
determined to be a public nuisance and will be noticed, abated and appealed per the process 
described in Chapter 2.50 of the MMC in order to streamline code enforcement.   

 
In addition to the proposed Title 15 amendments, Ordinance No. 5093 also amends the following 
sections of the MMC: 
 

• Chapter 2.50.510 – adding the applicability of the Code Compliance process to Title 15. 
• Chapter 8.10.250 – adding the ability to screen inactive motor vehicles on private property with 

a car cover. 
• Chapter 8.10.035 – adding a section on the storage of items on private property.   

 
Throughout the proposed amendments are references to penalties assigned as Class Code Violations.  
As a reminder these violations were established in 2019 with the adoption of Chapter 2.50 of the MMC 
and are provided below as reference.  The fees associated with these Class Code Violations have been 
approved by resolution of the City Council as part of the McMinnville Fee Schedule.   
 

     CODE VIOLATION FEES 
TYPE OF FEE FEE 
Class 1 Code Violation $5,000.00 
Class 2 Code Violation $2,000.00 
Class 3 Code Violation $1,000.00 
Class 4 Code Violation $500.00 
Class 5 Code Violation $250.00 
Class 6 Code Violation $100.00 
Class 7 Code Violation $50.00 
Class 8 Code Violation $25.00 

 

58



 
 

 P a g e  | 4 

The second package of code amendments to Title 15 that will be brought to the City Council in August, 
2020 will include the following items:   
 

• Demolition 
• Fire Safety During Construction 
• Protection of Adjacent Property 
• Encroachments into Right of Way 
• Retaining Walls 
• Cell, Radio and other Towers 
• Flag Poles 
• Signs 
• Transitional Housing Accommodations 
• Rental Maintenance Program 

 
Attachments: 

• Chapter 2.50 of the McMinnville Municipal Code 
• Ordinance No. 5093 with Exhibit A of proposed amendments 

 
Fiscal Impact: 
If City Council adopts Ordinance No. 5093, then a Resolution will be proposed with the appropriate fees 
identified in the Ordinance to be considered by City Council at their meeting on July 28, 2020, prior to 
the Ordinance becoming effective on August 14, 2020.   
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends adoption of Ordinance No. 5093. 

59



2.50.010 
2.50.020 
2.50.110 
2.50.120 
2.50.210 
2.50.220 
2.50.230 
2.50.240 
2.50.250 
2.50.260 
2.50.310 
2.50.320 
2.50.510 

Chapter 2.50 
CODE COMPLIANCE 

Sections: 

Applicability of chapter. 
Definitions. 
Identification and investigation. 
Notice of code violation. 
Corrective action by responsible person. 
Corrective action by compliance officer. 
Obtaining a corrective action warrant. 
Executing a corrective action warrant. 
Notice and collection of corrective action costs. 
Corrective action remedies not exclusive. 
Notice of civil penalty. 
Civil penalty classification levels. 
Protests and appeals. 

2.50.010 Applicability of chapter. 

A. The provisions of this chapter apply to the enforcement of civil code provisions identified in the following 
portions of the McMinnville Municipal Code, including all plans, permits, or licenses adopted or issued pursuant to 
such provisions: 

1. All chapters of Title 5 of this code (Business Taxes, Licenses and Regulations); 

2. All chapters of Title 8 of this code (Health and Safety); 

3. All chapters of Title 17 of this code (Zoning) and all ordinances adopted pursuant to Title 17 of this code or 
the McMinnville comprehensive plan, regardless of whether such ordinances are codified in the McMinnville 
Municipal Code. 

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A of this section, the provisions of this chapter do not apply to 
the enforcement of any violation identified as a misdemeanor or for which the punishment may include any term 
of imprisonment, or to any criminal, traffic or parking laws, including the laws set forth in the following titles of the 
McMinnville Municipal Code: 

1. Title 9 of this code – Public Peace, Morals and Welfare; 

2. Title 10 of this code – Vehicles and Traffic. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 1 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
60

https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/5
https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/8
https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/17
https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/17
https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/9
https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/10


2.50.020 Definitions. 

As used in this chapter: 

“Code” or “McMinnville Municipal Code” means the provisions of all ordinances adopted by the city council, 
regardless of whether codified into the McMinnville Municipal Code, that are subject to the provisions of this 
chapter, as described in Section 2.50.010. 

“Code violation” means any substance, condition or action that violates any requirement or prohibition set forth in 
the McMinnville Municipal Code, including the terms and conditions of any permit, license, or other grant of 
authority issued or executed pursuant to the provisions of such code. 

“Compliance officer” means any person designated by the city manager or designee as having responsibility for 
enforcing the civil provisions of the McMinnville Municipal Code. 

“Corrective action” means an action that is necessary and sufficient to bring any substance, condition or action into 
compliance with the provisions of the McMinnville Municipal Code. 

“Exigent circumstances” means any circumstances that would cause a reasonable person to believe that 
immediate entry on a premises or other relevant action is necessary to prevent: 

1. Physical harm to persons or property; 

2. Destruction of evidence; or 

3. Other consequences that would improperly frustrate legitimate code compliance efforts. 

“Person” means a natural person, firm, partnership, association or corporation. 

“Person in charge of a premises” means an owner, agent, occupant, guest, tenant, lessee, contract purchaser, 
contractor, employee, squatter, or any other person having possession or control of a premises, or supervision 
over a construction project on a premises. 

“Post” or “posting” means the action of physically placing or affixing a notice authorized or required to be posted 
by this chapter to any portion of the premises in a manner likely to be seen by any responsible person. In the 
event that the premises is occupied, posting of notice may be accomplished by personal delivery to any person in 
charge of the premises. 

“Premises” means any publicly or privately owned building, lot, parcel, real estate, land or portion of land, whether 
improved or unimproved. 

“Responsible person” means any person that is responsible for permitting, allowing, or causing to exist any 
substance, condition or action that is prohibited by the provisions of the McMinnville Municipal Code. 

“Warrant” or “administrative warrant” means a written order issued by the McMinnville municipal court judge, 
authorizing entry onto a premises for the purpose of carrying out any of the provisions of this chapter related to 
the investigation or correction of a code violation. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 2 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
61



2.50.110 Identification and investigation. 

A. Upon the receipt of a complaint or the proactive observance of any city employee, a compliance officer is 
authorized to investigate and determine whether a code violation exists by gathering and documenting evidence, 
as appropriate to the nature of the alleged violation. 

B. When entry on private property is necessary or desirable for the identification or investigation of the code 
violation, a compliance officer is authorized as follows: 

1. A compliance officer is authorized to enter onto a public or private premises that is open to the public at 
all reasonable times to determine whether a code violation exists. 

2. A compliance officer is authorized to enter onto a private premises that is not open to the public at 
reasonable times to determine whether a code violation exists when the compliance officer: 

a. Has received permission from any person in charge of the premises; 

b. An administrative warrant has been issued pursuant to the provisions of this chapter authorizing 
entry for inspection of the premises; 

c. Determines that an emergency or other exigent circumstances exist requiring immediate entry. 

C. An administrative search warrant may be issued by the municipal court judge upon the oath and application 
of a compliance officer, which must include a sworn affidavit showing probable cause for the entry and inspection 
by stating the purpose and extent of the proposed inspection, citing the chapter(s) of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code that serve(s) as the basis for the inspection, and giving information concerning the code violation in question 
and/or the premises on which it is located. 

D. A person must not interfere with or attempt to prevent a compliance officer from entering onto any premises 
when such entry is authorized by the provisions of this section. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.120 Notice of code violation. 

A. If the city manager or designee is satisfied that a code violation exists, the compliance officer will cause a 
notice of code violation to be posted on the premises, or at the site of the code violation, directing the responsible 
person to correct the code violation. 

B. At the time of posting, the compliance officer must also cause a copy of the notice of code violation to be 
forwarded by certified mail, postage prepaid, to any person in charge of the premises and to the owner of the 
premises (or registered agent) at the last known address of such person(s) as shown on the tax rolls of Yamhill 
County. If the mailed notice of code violation is returned as undeliverable or is unclaimed by the property owner, it 
will not preclude the city from taking enforcement or corrective actions as described in this chapter. 

C. The notice of code violation must contain: 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 3 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
62



1. A description of the real property, by street address or otherwise, on which the code violation exists. 

2. A description of the code violation found to exist by the compliance officer. 

3. A determination of whether the code violation presents an immediate threat to the public health, welfare 
or safety. 

4. A direction to correct the code violation within 10 days from the date of notice. 

5. If the code violation is for a public nuisance described in Chapter 8.10, a statement that unless the code 
violation is corrected by the deadline, the city may correct the code violation and assess the full cost of 
corrective action, including administrative charges, against all responsible persons and that such corrective 
action costs will become a lien on the property if not paid in full within 30 days of invoicing. 

6. A statement that failure to correct a code violation may warrant imposition of a civil penalty upon all 
persons responsible for the code violation. 

7. A statement that the owner or any responsible person may protest the notice of code violation by giving 
written notice to the city manager within 10 days from the date of the notice, together with a written 
statement as to why a code violation does not exist. 

D. Upon completion of the posting and mailing of the notice of code violation, the compliance officer must 
execute and place on file with the city manager or designee a certificate stating the date and place of the mailing 
and posting. 

E. If the compliance officer meets all requirements for posting and mailing the notice of code violation set forth 
in this section, then the failure of any person to receive actual notice will not void any code compliance process set 
forth in this chapter. 

F. If the owner or other responsible person fails to appeal the notice of code violation in compliance with the 
procedures set forth at Section 2.50.510(A), then the violation will be deemed proved and no further appeal of the 
notice of code violation will be allowed. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.210 Corrective action by responsible person. 

A. All responsible persons must correct all violations described in the notice of code violation not later than the 
date set forth in the notice, or the date set forth in any final order or judgment issued on appeal. 

B. If a responsible person admits responsibility for the violation, they may submit a voluntary compliance plan 
for correcting the violation to the compliance officer within 10 days after posting and mailing of the notice of 
violation. The compliance plan must contain the following: 

1. The responsible person’s name, mailing address, telephone number and email address; 

2. A written admission of responsibility for the violation; 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 4 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
63

https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/8.10


3. A detailed plan for correction of the violation(s) over a reasonable period of time; 

4. Written consent for the compliance officer or their designee to enter the premises for the purpose of: 

a. Verifying compliance with the terms of the compliance plan; or 

b. Taking actions to correct the violation upon determining that the terms of the compliance plan have 
not been met. 

C. The compliance officer will review the voluntary compliance plan and may approve the plan as presented, 
approve a modified plan, or reject the plan, at their discretion. The decision of a compliance officer regarding 
whether to accept, reject or modify a voluntary compliance plan is final and not subject to appeal. (Ord. 5078 §1 
(Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.220 Corrective action by compliance officer. 

A. The city may enter a premises as provided in this section, and may take all necessary actions to correct code 
violation, whenever a responsible person fails to take corrective action as described in Section 2.50.210(A), or upon 
the determination by a compliance officer that a person has failed to comply with the terms of a voluntary 
compliance plan approved pursuant to Section 2.50.210(C). Except when the compliance officer has received 
consent from a responsible person or as provided in subsection B of this section, a corrective action warrant is 
required before a compliance officer may enter the premises. 

B. If the violation for which a notice of code violation has been issued is determined to be an immediate threat to 
the public health, welfare or safety, and is not corrected within the specified time frame, the city manager may 
order the code violation to be corrected without a warrant. The following nonexclusive list of code violations may 
be corrected by the city without a warrant: 

1. Any structural element that has been significantly compromised as determined by the city building official 
or designee, and not governed by any other section of this code. 

2. Any fire hazard as determined by the fire marshal or designee, and not governed by any other section of 
this code. 

3. Any public nuisance violation identified Chapter 8.10, as determined by a compliance officer to present an 
immediate threat to the public health, welfare or safety, including but not limited to violations involving rat 
harborage and weed abatement. 

C. The McMinnville municipal court is authorized to issue a corrective action warrant authorizing any compliance 
officer to make searches and seizures reasonably necessary to enforce any provision of the McMinnville City Code 
pertaining to code violations. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 5 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
64

https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/8.10


2.50.230 Obtaining a corrective action warrant. 

A. Every warrant authorized by this section must be supported by affidavit or sworn testimony establishing 
probable cause to believe that a code violation has occurred, describing: 

1. The applicant’s status in applying for the warrant; 

2. The premises to be entered; 

3. A statement of the violation to be corrected; 

4. The ordinance or regulation requiring or authorizing the corrective action; 

5. The basis for taking the corrective action; 

6. A statement that consent to enter onto the property to correct the violation has been unsuccessfully 
sought from a responsible person or other facts and circumstances that reasonably justify the failure to seek 
or inability to obtain such consent. 

B. Probable cause to issue a warrant will be found when: 

1. There is reasonable belief that a code violation exists with respect to the premises; 

2. The city has complied with the notice requirements set forth in Section 2.50.120; and 

3. The time period for the owner or other responsible person to correct the violation has passed. 

C. The court may, before issuing a corrective action warrant, examine the applicant and any other witness under 
oath and must be satisfied of the existence of grounds for granting such application. If the court is satisfied that 
cause for correcting the violation(s) exists and that the other requirements for granting the application are 
satisfied, the court must issue the corrective action warrant, particularly describing the person or persons 
authorized to execute the warrant, the premises to be entered, and a statement of the general corrective actions 
that may be taken. 

D. In issuing a corrective action warrant, the court may authorize any peace officer, as defined in Oregon Revised 
Statutes, to enter the described premises to remove any person or obstacle and to assist a compliance officer in 
any way necessary to enter the premises to correct the violation. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.240 Executing a corrective action warrant. 

A. Occupied Property. In executing a corrective action warrant, the person authorized to execute the warrant 
must, before entry into the occupied premises, make a reasonable effort to present the person’s credentials, 
authority and purpose to an occupant or person in possession of the property designated in the warrant and 
show the occupant or person in possession of the property the warrant or a copy thereof upon request. A copy of 
the warrant must be left with the occupant or the person in possession. The warrant is not required to be read 
aloud. 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 6 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
65



B. Unoccupied Property. In executing a warrant on unoccupied property, the person authorized to execute the 
warrant need not inform anyone of the person’s authority and purpose, but may promptly enter the designated 
property if it is at the time unoccupied or not in the possession of any person. In such case a copy of the warrant 
must be conspicuously posted on the property. 

C. Return. A warrant must be executed within 30 days of its issue and returned to the court by whom it was 
issued within 30 days from its date of execution. After the expiration of the time prescribed by this subsection, the 
warrant, unless executed, is void. 

D. A person must not interfere with or attempt to prevent a compliance officer from entering onto any premises 
when such entry is authorized by the provisions of this section. 

E. The city manager has the final authority to decide whether or not to enter onto a premises to correct or abate 
a code violation in each particular case. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.250 Notice and collection of corrective action costs. 

A. The owner, all persons in charge of the premises, and all other responsible persons are jointly and severally 
liable for all costs associated with corrective actions taken by the city, including administrative costs, warrant costs, 
and attorney fees. 

B. The city manager or designee must keep an accurate record of the full cost recovery expense incurred by the 
city for all corrective actions. 

C. After the code violations have been determined by the city to be corrected, the city manager or designee must 
cause a notice of corrective action costs to be posted on the premises, or at the site of the code violation. 

D. At the time of posting, the city manager or designee must also cause a copy of the notice of corrective action 
costs to be forwarded by certified mail, postage prepaid, to any person in charge of the premises and to the owner 
of the premises (or registered agent) at the last known address of such person(s) as shown on the tax rolls of 
Yamhill County. 

E. The notice of corrective action costs must contain: 

1. A copy of the notice of code violation and any final orders issued in the matter; 

2. The total costs of corrective actions due and payable within 30 days of the notice of corrective action 
costs; 

3. Notification that the costs of corrective actions will become a lien against the premises if not paid when 
due; and 

4. Notification that if any owner or other responsible person objects to the notice of corrective action costs, 
a written protest must be filed with the city manager within 10 days from the date of the notice. 

F. Collection and Abatement Costs. 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 7 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
66



1. The costs listed in the notice of corrective action costs will become delinquent if not paid within 30 days of 
the date of the notice or within 10 days of the date set forth in any final order or judgment issued on appeal of 
the cost notice, whichever comes later. 

2. Assessment of the delinquent correction action costs must be made by city council resolution to be 
entered in the docket of city liens. When the entry is made, it will constitute a lien on all real property on which 
the corrective action occurred. 

3. The lien will be enforced in the same manner as liens for street improvements, as described in Chapter 
3.12, and will bear interest at the rate of nine percent per year, accruing from the date of the entry of the lien 
into the lien docket. 

G. If the compliance officer meets all requirements for posting and mailing the notice of corrective action costs 
set forth in this section, then the failure of any person to receive actual notice will not void the assessment of any 
corrective action costs. 

H. If the owner or other responsible person fails to appeal the notice of corrective action costs in compliance 
with the procedures set forth at Section 2.50.510(A), then the cost assessment shall be deemed proved and no 
further appeal of the notice of corrective action costs will be allowed. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.260 Corrective action remedies not exclusive. 

A. The correction of code violations and the assessment of any costs associated with corrective actions are not 
penalties, but are additional remedies. 

B. The imposition of a civil penalty does not relieve a person of the duty to correct a code violation or pay all 
corrective action costs assessed by the city. 

C. The correction of a code violation within 10 days of the date of the notice of code violation or the final order 
issued upon any appeal of the notice, will relieve a responsible person from the imposition of any civil penalty 
under this chapter. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.310 Notice of civil penalty. 

A. Upon finding that a code violation exists and has not been voluntarily corrected within 10 days of the date of 
the notice of code violation or the final order issued upon appeal of the notice, the city manager or designee may 
impose a civil penalty. 

B. Each day that a code violation continues to exist will constitute a separate violation and a new civil penalty 
may be assessed for each consecutive day the violation continues without correction. 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 8 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
67

https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/MMC/3.12


C. The compliance officer shall cause the notice of civil penalty to be posted on the premises and forwarded by 
certified mail, postage prepaid, to any person in charge of the premises and the owner of the premises (or 
registered agent) at the last known address of such person(s) as shown on the tax rolls of Yamhill County. 

D. If the certified notice of civil penalty is returned as undeliverable or is unclaimed by any person, it will not 
preclude the city from imposing a civil penalty as described in this chapter. 

E. The notice of civil penalty must contain the following: 

1. A description of the real property, by street address or otherwise, on which the code violation exists. 

2. A description of the code violation found to exist by the compliance officer. 

3. A copy of the notice of code violation and any final orders issued in the matter. 

4. A statement indicating whether the code violation has been corrected or is considered a continuing 
violation subject to the imposition of a daily civil penalty. 

5. A calculation of the total amount of the civil penalty or, in the case of a continuing violation, the amount of 
civil penalty that has accrued as of the date of the notice. 

6. A statement that the amount of the civil penalty may become a lien on the premises if not paid in full 
within 30 days of invoicing. 

7. A statement that the owner or any responsible person may protest the notice of civil penalty by giving 
written notice to the city manager within 10 days from the date of the notice, together with a written 
statement as to why the civil penalty should be modified or not assessed. 

F. If the compliance officer meets all requirements for posting and mailing the notice of civil penalty set forth in 
this section, then the failure of any person to receive actual notice will not void the assessment of any civil penalty. 

G. If the owner or other responsible person fails to appeal the notice of civil penalty in compliance with the 
procedures set forth at Section 2.50.510(A), the amount of the civil penalty will be deemed final and no further 
appeal of the notice of civil penalty will be allowed. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.320 Civil penalty classification levels. 

A. The penalty for committing a code violation that is subject to the provisions of this chapter is a civil penalty. 
The amount of the civil penalty will be established by city council resolution. 

B. Code violations are classified for the purpose of assessing a civil penalty into the following categories: 

1. Class 1 code violations; 

2. Class 2 code violations; 

3. Class 3 code violations; 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 9 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
68



4. Class 4 code violations; 

5. Class 5 code violations; 

6. Class 6 code violations; 

7. Class 7 code violations; 

8. Class 8 code violations; 

9. Unclassified code violations as described in subsection C of this section; and 

10. Specific fine code violations, as described in subsection D of this section. 

C. The violation of any code provision that is subject to this chapter and that does not specify the classification of 
the code violation is an unclassified code violation. An unclassified code violation may be assessed a civil penalty in 
lieu of a fine as a Class 3 code violation, except that when a code violation is classified in accordance with ORS 
153.012, then: 

1. A Class A violation may be assessed a civil penalty as a Class 3 code violation; 

2. A Class B violation may be assessed a civil penalty as a Class 4 code violation; 

3. A Class C violation may be assessed a civil penalty as a Class 5 code violation; and 

4. A Class D violation may be assessed a civil penalty as a Class 6 code violation. 

D. The violation of any code provision that is subject to this chapter, and that specifies a specific fine amount or 
maximum fine amount, may be assessed a civil penalty in lieu of the fine, in a daily amount not to exceed the 
specific fine. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

2.50.510 Protests and appeals. 

A. Protest to the City Manager. 

1. An owner or other responsible person of a premises may protest a notice of code violation issued 
pursuant to Section 2.50.120, a notice of corrective action costs issued pursuant to Section 2.50.250, or a 
notice of civil penalty issued pursuant to Section 2.50.310 by submitting a written protest to the city manager 
within 10 days of the date of the notice. 

2. The written protest must, at a minimum, contain the following information: 

a. The name, mailing address, telephone number and email address of the person submitting the 
protest; 

b. A description of the real property, by street address or otherwise, on which the code violation is 
alleged to exist; 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 10 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
69

https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/OR/ORS/153.012


c. A written statement, and all supporting evidence, specifying the basis for the protest. 

3. The city manager will review the notice and the protest, together with all supporting evidence in the 
record, and will issue a final order that either upholds, amends, or dismisses the findings and determination 
set forth in the notice. 

4. If the city manager issues a final order that upholds or amends the Notice, the owner or responsible 
person must comply with the terms of the order within 10 days from the date of the order. 

B. Appeal to the Hearings Officer. 

1. An owner or other responsible person of a premises may dispute a final order issued by the city manager 
pursuant to subsection A of this section by submitting a written appeal to the city recorder within 10 days of 
the date of the final order. A hearings officer will preside over the appeal hearing. 

2. The written appeal must, at a minimum, contain the following information: 

a. The name, mailing address, telephone number and email address of the person submitting the 
protest; 

b. A description of the real property, by street address or otherwise, on which the code violation is 
alleged to exist; 

c. A written statement, and all supporting evidence, specifying the basis for appealing the city manager’s 
final order. 

3. Subject to the requirements of this code section, the McMinnville hearings officer may adopt additional 
procedures for the conduct of any hearings before them, but at a minimum, must allow: 

a. Each party to introduce evidence, including rebuttal evidence, that is relevant to prove or refute any 
matter raised in the underlying notice or city manager’s final order; and 

b. An opportunity for each party to cross-examine all witnesses who testify. 

4. Following the close of the record, the McMinnville hearings officer will issue a decision within 10 days that 
either upholds, amends, or dismisses the city manager’s final order. 

5. If the hearings officer decision upholds or amends the city manager’s final order, then the hearings 
officer’s final order must include: 

a. A brief statement of the findings of fact; 

b. The amount of any assessed corrective action costs, civil penalties, and associated administrative 
costs; 

c. The date by which any costs and assessments must be paid; and 

d. An order directing the responsible person to correct the code violation, pay the assessed corrective 
action costs or pay the assessed civil penalty, as appropriate to the nature of the appeal; 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 11 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
70



This website is for demonstration or proofing purposes only. It is not necessarily endorsed by City of 
McMinnville and should not be relied upon for the content of any document. 

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020. 

Disclaimer: The city recorder's office has the official version of the McMinnville Municipal Code. Users should 
contact the city recorder's office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above. 

Note: This site does not support Internet Explorer. To view this site, Code Publishing Company recommends using 
one of the following browsers: Google Chrome, Firefox, or Safari. 

City Website: www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov 
City Telephone: (503) 435-5702 
Code Publishing Company 

6. If the hearings officer decision dismisses the city manager’s final order, then the hearings officer’s final 
order must include: 

a. An order that any incurred fees be refunded; and 

b. An order that all costs of the abatement will be dismissed or refunded. 

C. Appeal of Hearings Officer’s Final Order. Any party to the appeal may obtain review of the hearings officer’s final 
order by writ of review pursuant to ORS Chapter 34. (Ord. 5078 §1 (Exh. 1 (part)), 2019). 

Ch. 2.50 Code Compliance | McMinnville Municipal Code Page 12 of 12

The McMinnville Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 5092, passed April 14, 2020.
71

https://mcminnville.municipal.codes/OR/ORS/34
https://www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov/
https://www.codebook.com/


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 1 of 29 

ORDINANCE NO. 5093 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING TITLE 15 OF THE MCMINNVILLE 
CITY CODE, SPECIFIC TO BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION, AMENDING 
SECTION 2.50.510, SPECIFIC TO CODE COMPLIANCE - APPLICABILITY, AND 
SECTIONS 8,10.250, HEALTH AND SAFETY – MOTOR VEHICLES, AND SECTION 
8.10.035, HEALTH AND SAFETY – STORAGE.   
 
 
RECITALS: 
 

WHEREAS, The City of McMinnville in an effort to provide for the welfare, safety 
and health of the citizens of the City of McMinnville has a local McMinnville Municipal 
Code; and  

 
WHEREAS, Title 15 of the McMinnville City Code governs local codes relative to 

“Buildings and Construction”; and 
 
WHEREAS, Title 15 has not been updated since 1980; and 
 
WHEREAS, Codes, best practices and program parameters have changed 

substantially for buildings and construction since 1980; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of McMinnville would like to continue to provide for the 

welfare, safety and health of the citizens of the City of McMinnville relative to buildings 
and construction with updated local codes reflecting current best practices; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of McMinnville does not have a property maintenance code 

and has received many complaints from citizens regarding properties that are not 
maintained to a minimum standard of maintenance, safety and health; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of McMinnville would like to update its local fire codes for 

buildings and construction to ensure the safety, welfare and health of its citizens and 
businesses; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Oregon Building Codes Division adopts Oregon’s State Building 

Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State allows for adoption of several optional appendices to the 

Building Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, the State allows adoption of local ordinances regulating matters not 

otherwise encompassed by the State Building Code under ORS 455.030; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has the authority under ORS 455.020(4) to enact certain 

building code regulations to supplement the Statewide Building Code; and  

72



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 2 of 29 

 
WHEREAS, having a consistent local administrative chapter is intended to provide 

for consistent application of all adopted specialty codes. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE COMMON COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF MCMINNVILLE 
ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:   
 

1. That Title 15 (BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION), of the McMinnville 
City Code is repealed and replaced as provided in Exhibit A to this Ordinance.   

 
2. That this Ordinance is effective thirty days from its adoption. 

 
Passed by the Council this 14th day of July, 2020, by the following votes: 
 

Ayes:   _____________________________________________ 
 

Nays:   _____________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________ 
MAYOR 

 
 
 
Attest:  Approved as to form: 
__________________________  _____________________________ 
City Recorder  City Attorney 
  

73



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 3 of 29 

 
 

CITY OF MCMINNVILLE 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

231 NE FIFTH STREET 
MCMINNVILLE, OR  97128 

 
503-434-7311 

www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov  
 

 
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE MCMINNVILLE MUNICIPAL CITY CODE 
 
 

The following language will replace Title 15 of the McMinnville Municipal Code 
 
 

TITLE 15  BUILDINGS and CONSTRUCTION 
 
CHAPTERS: 
 

15.02 Building Codes 
15.04 Fire Codes 
15.06 Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction 
15.08 House Moving Regulations 

 
  

 

EXHIBIT A 

74

http://www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov/


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 4 of 29 

 
Chapter 15.02 

BUILDING CODES 
 
Sections: 
 

15.02.010 Administration 
15.02.020 Building Codes 
15.02.030 Revisions to Codes 
15.02.040 Alternate Materials, Methods of Design and Methods of Construction 
15.02.050 Modifications 
15.02.060 Permits 
15.02.070 Inspections 
15.02.080 Fees 
15.02.090 Powers and Duties of Building Official 
15.02.095 Applicability 
15.02.100 Violations and Penalties 
15.02.200 Protests and Appeals 
 

15.02.010 Administration 
A. The City provides a building inspection program, including plan review, permit issuance and 

inspection for the adopted specialty building codes listed in section 15.02.020 of this 
Chapter.   

 
B. The program is administered by the Building Official under the supervision of the City 

Manager or designee and the authority of ORS 455.150(3).   
 
C. The Building Official is authorized to adopt rules of procedure for such administration that 

include, the authority to stop work and disallow occupancy or use of any building or service 
equipment in violation of this ordinance; the authority to refund all or part of building 
permit application fees for cause; and the authority to dispose of permit applications and 
supporting documents, and to declare permits to have expired, at a point in time after 
applications are received and after permits have been issued. 

 
D. The program provides services in accordance with its operating plan as required by  

OAR 918-020-0090 and the remainder of this chapter. 
 
15.02.020 Building Codes 
The City adopts the most recent editions of the following codes: 
 
A. Application of the Building Code.  ORS Chapter 455.150 and OAR 918-020-0010 through 

OAR 918-020-0490 are adopted by reference. A violation of a provision in those State laws 
is an offense against the City. 

75



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 5 of 29 

 
B. Oregon Structural Specialty Code, as adopted by ORS 455.150 through 455.895, OAR 918-

460-0000 through 918-460-0070 (hereinafter “Structural Specialty Code”); 
 
C. Oregon Mechanical Specialty Code, as adopted by OAR 918-440-0000 through 918-440-

0510; 
 
D. Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code, as adopted by ORS 447.020(2), OAR 918-750-0110 and 

delegated to the city by ORS 455.153 (hereinafter “Plumbing Specialty Code”); 
 
E. Oregon One- and Two-Family Dwelling Specialty Code, as adopted by ORS 455.610 and OAR 

918-480-0001 through 918-480-0150 (hereinafter called the “One- and Two-Family 
Specialty Code”). 

 
F. Oregon Manufactured Dwelling Installation Specialty Code as adopted by ORS 446.230.  
 
G. Oregon Manufactured Dwelling and Parks Specialty Code as scoped by OAR 918-600-0010 

and adopted ORS 446. 
 
H. International Property Maintenance Code, as published by the International Code Council 

with the following modifications: 
1. Section 101.1. Insert: City of McMinnville 

 
2. Section 103.5. Insert: Will not exceed the amount established by a Class 1 Code Violation 

plus full cost recovery as established by the City of McMinnville Fee Schedule.  
 

3. Section 109.6. Amend “Any person ordered to take emergency measures shall comply 
with such order forthwith. Any affected person shall thereafter, upon petition directed to 
the appeals board, be afforded a hearing as described in this code, protest and appeal 
per section 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal Code”. 
 

4. Section 111.  Amend.  Appeals will be processed per section 2.50.510 of the McMinnville 
Municipal Code.  
 

5. Section 112.4. Insert: Will not exceed the amount established by a Class 4 Code 
Violation. 
 

6. Section 302.4. Insert: 10 inches (height of weeds/overgrown grass allowed in local 
jurisdiction]. 
 

7. Section 304.14. Insert: May 1 through October 30. 
 

8. Section 308.2.2.  Delete entire section.   
 

76

http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.01
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.895
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=447.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.153
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.610


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 6 of 29 

9. Section 602.3 Insert: October 1 through June 30. 
 

10. Section 602.4 Insert: October 1 through June 30.. 
 
I. International Building Code, Appendix J, Grading with the following modifications: 

1. J101.2 Flood Hazard Areas. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Unless the applicant has submitted an engineering analysis, prepared in accordance with 
standard engineering practice by a registered design professional, that demonstrates the 
proposed work will not result in any increase in the level of the base flood, and has a 
permit from the Department of State Lands, grading, excavation and earthwork 
construction, including fills and embankments, shall not be permitted in floodways that 
are in recognized flood hazard areas or in flood hazard areas where design flood 
elevations are specified but floodways have not been designated.   
 

2. J102.1 Definitions. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
The following words and terms shall, for the purposes of this code, have the meanings 
shown herein. Refer to Chapter 2 of the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code for 
general definitions. 
 

3. J103.2 Exemptions. Item 2 deleted and replaced with: Excavation for construction of a 
structure permitted under the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code. 
 

4. J103.2 Exemptions.  Last paragraph deleted and replaced with:  Exemption from the 
permit requirements of this code shall not be deemed to grant authorization for any 
work to be done in any manner in violation of the provisions of any other laws or 
ordinances of this jurisdiction.   
 

5. J104.1 Submittal Requirements. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Grading plans must be prepared by an Oregon registered design professional. 
Exception: The building official may waive the need for an Oregon registered design 
professional where the nature of work is determined not to be highly technical in nature 
or there is no unreasonable potential risk to life or safety. 
 

6. J104.4 Liquefaction Study. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Where local zoning allows for development on sites with mapped maximum considered 
earthquake spectral response accelerations at short periods (S1) greater than 0.5g as 
determined by the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code, a study of the liquefaction 
potential of the site shall be provided and the recommendations incorporated in the 
plans.   
 

7. J105.1 General Requirements. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Inspection shall be governed by the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code.   
 

8. J105.2 Special inspections.  Section deleted and replaced with the following: 

77



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 7 of 29 

The special inspection requirements of the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code shall 
apply to work performed under a grading permit where required by the building official. 

 
15.02.030 Revisions to Codes 
From time to time revisions, amendments and/or other changes are made to the codes 
identified in section 15.02.020 of this chapter.  The amended codes are issued as new editions. 
The new editions of the codes adopted in section 15.02.020 of this chapter shall be considered 
adopted by the city.  
 
15.02.040 Alternate Materials, Methods of Design and Methods of 
Construction 
A. The provisions of the technical codes are not intended to prevent the use of any material 

method of design or method of construction not specifically prescribed by the technical 
codes, provided an alternate has been approved and its use authorized by the building 
official. 

 
B. The building official may approve an alternate, provided the building official finds that the 

proposed design is satisfactory and complies with the provisions of the technical codes and 
that the material, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, at least the 
equivalent of that prescribed in the technical codes in suitability, strength, effectiveness, 
fire resistance, durability, safety and sanitation. 

 
C. The building official shall require that sufficient evidence or proof be submitted to 

substantiate claims that may be made regarding its use. The details of an action granting 
approval of an alternate shall be recorded and entered in the files of the code enforcement 
agency.  

 
15.02.050 Modifications 
Whenever there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the provisions of the technical 
codes, the building official may grant modifications for individual cases. The building official 
shall first find that a special individual reason makes the strict letter of the technical code 
impractical and the modification is in conformity with the intent and purpose of the technical 
code, and that such modification does not lessen health, life and fire safety requirements or 
any degree of structural integrity. The details of actions granting modifications shall be 
recorded and entered in the files of the code enforcement agency.  
 
15.02.060 Permits 
A. Permits Required.  Any owner, person, or authorized agent who intends to construct, alter, 

enlarge, repair, move, demolish, or change the occupancy of any building, structure, 
appurtenance, or service equipment or cause any such work to be done must first make 
application to the building official and obtain the required permit. 

78



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 8 of 29 

 
B. The permit holder or applicant shall not proceed with construction activity prior to issuance 

of a permit or until receiving specific written authorization to do so by the Building Official.   
 
C. Work requiring a permit shall not be commenced until the permit holder or an authorized 

agent of the permit holder has made available on site, a copy of the permit authorizing such 
work and supporting documents such as City approved construction documents.  The 
permit and supporting documents shall be maintained and available by the permit holder 
until final approval has been granted by the Building Official.   

 
D. The issuance of a permit based on construction documents and other data does not prevent 

the Building Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in the construction 
documents and other data, or from preventing building operation, such as building 
inspections, plan reviews, permit issuance, and investigations, from being carried on 
thereunder when in violation of this Chapter or aof any other ordinances of this jurisdiction.   

 
E. Partial Permits.  The Building Official is authorized to promulgate additional administrative 

rules and regulations related to the efficient administration and review of partial permits.  
Elements for partial permits shall include but not be limited to deferred submittals, 
temporary permits and phased construction.   

 
F. Design Profession of Responsible Charge.  Where it is required that documents be prepared 

by a registered design professional, the Building Official shall be authorized to require the 
owner or the owner's authorized agent to engage and designate on the building permit 
application a registered design professional who shall act as the registered design 
professional in responsible charge. If the circumstances require, the owner or the owner's 
authorized agent shall designate a substitute registered design professional in responsible 
charge who shall perform the duties required of the original registered design professional 
in responsible charge. The Building Official shall be notified in writing by the owner or the 
owner's authorized agent if the registered design professional in responsible charge is 
changed or is unable to continue to perform the duties. The registered design professional 
in responsible charge shall be responsible for reviewing and coordinating submittal 
documents prepared by others, including phased and deferred submittal items, for 
compatibility with the design of the building. 

 
G. Work without a permit – Investigation fee. 

1. Whenever work for which a permit as required by this code has been commenced 
without first obtaining a permit, a special investigation shall be made before a permit 
may be issued for such work. 
 

2. An investigation fee, in addition to the permit fees, shall be collected whether or not a 
permit is then or subsequently issued. The payment of such investigation fee shall not 
exempt an applicant from compliance with all other provisions of either this code, any 
technical codes nor from any penalties prescribed by law. 

79



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 9 of 29 

 
H. Suspension or Revocation.  The Building Official may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit 

issued under the provision of this Chapter whenever the Permit is issued in error on the 
basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information supplied, or if its issuance (or 
activity thereunder) is in violation of any ordinance or regulation of any other provisions of 
the McMinnville Municipal Code. 

 
I. The Building Official may adopt administrative procedures regarding permit and permit 

application expirations, extensions, and/or reinstatements. 
 
15.02.070 Inspections 
A. It shall be the duty of the Permit holder or authorized agent to request all inspections that 

may be necessary or otherwise required in a timely manner, provide access to the site, and 
to provide all equipment as may be deemed necessary or appropriate by the Building 
Official.   

 
B. The Building Official shall make the required inspections, or the Building Official shall have 

the authority to accept reports of inspection by approved agencies or individuals.  The 
Building Official is authorized to engage such expert opinion as deemed necessary to report 
on unusual technical issues that arise. 

 
C. Special Inspections. 

1. When special inspection is required by the Structural Specialty Code, the owner or the 
owner’s authorized agent, other than the contractor, shall prepare an inspection 
program which shall be submitted to the building official for approval prior to issuance 
of a building permit. The inspection program shall designate the portions of the work 
that require special inspection and the name or names of individuals or firms who are to 
perform the special inspections, and indicate the duties of the special inspectors. 
 

2. The special inspector shall be employed by the owner, the engineer or architect of 
record, or an agent of the owner, but not the contractor or any other person 
responsible for the work. In situations where the owner is also the contractor, the 
building official shall have the authority to require the selection of a special inspector 
who is independent from the employment of the owner/contractor. 
 

3. When structural observation is required by a Structural Specialty Code, the inspection 
program shall name the individuals or firms who are to perform structural observation 
and describe the stages of construction at which structural observation is to occur. 
 

4. The inspection program shall include samples of inspection reports and provide time 
limits for submission of reports.  

 
D. Failure to Obtain or Request Final Inspection or Issuance of Certificate of Occupancy.   

80



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 10 of 29 

1. Prior to occupancy of newly constructed commercial or residential buildings or altered 
commercial buildings a final inspection must be approved by the Building Official.  For a 
new building, a certificate of occupancy will be issued signifying compliance with the 
applicable codes of the City.  For remodel work, a certificate of completion may be 
issued.   
 

2. Other permitted work such as mechanical installations or structures that do not involve 
occupancy by persons, must receive a final inspection from the Building Official within 
180 days after the work has been completed.  
 

3. Whenever any building, structure or equipment therein regulated by this Chapter is 
occupied or in use without a final inspection or certificate of occupancy, the Building 
Official is authorized to use all means authorized to compel completion of permitted 
work.  This includes issuing an order for occupancy or use to be discontinued, and the 
structure (or portion thereof) vacated. All persons using the structure (or portion 
thereof) shall discontinue the use within the time prescribed by the Building Official and 
make the structure, or portion thereof, comply with the requirements of the Building 
Code. The Building Official may cause the water service to be discontinued pending the 
completion of the final inspection and obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy. The Building 
Official shall notify the occupants of the discontinuation of water service in the notice to 
complete final inspection and obtain certificate of occupancy. 
 

4. If a permit holder receives a temporary certificate of occupancy and does not complete 
all of the requirements of the permit in a timely manner, the Building Official may 
declare it a violation of this Chapter and seek remedy by all means authorized up to and 
including ordering the occupancy or use discontinued, and the structure vacated.  All 
persons using the structure (or portion thereof) shall discontinue the use within the 
time prescribed by the Building Official and make the structure, or portion thereof, 
comply with the requirements of the permit. The Building Official may cause the water 
service to be discontinued pending the completion of the final inspection and obtaining 
a Certificate of Occupancy. The Building Official shall notify the occupants of the 
discontinuation of water service in the notice to complete final inspection and obtain 
certificate of occupancy.  And the Building Official may issue a citation for a Class 4 Code 
Violation each day of the occurrence of the violation. 

 
15.02.080 Fees 
A. Fees for permits and other related services pursuant to the building inspection program will 

be established by resolution of the City Council and updated regularly as appropriate. 
 
B. Fee refunds and waivers. 

1. The Building Official may authorize refunding of any fee paid thereunder which was 
erroneously paid or collected. 
 

81



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 11 of 29 

2. The Building Official may authorize refunding of any fee refund made voluntarily in 
writing within 180 days of fee payment.  A portion of the refund, as set in the adopted 
fee schedule, shall be retained. 
 

3. The Building Official may authorize refunding of the permit fees paid as required by this 
code when no work has been begun under a permit issued in accordance with this code. 
Permit fee refunds shall not exceed the amount set forth by the fee schedule. 
 

4. The Building Official may authorize a refund of plan review fees paid as required under 
this code if an application for a plan review permit is withdrawn or canceled before any 
plan review is conducted. Plan review fee refunds shall not exceed the amount set forth 
by the fee schedule. 

5. The Building Official shall not authorize refunding of any fee paid except on written 
application filed by the original permit holder not later than 180 days after date of fee 
payment. 

 
15.02.090 Powers and Duties of Building Official 
A. The Building Official is authorized to enforce all of the provisions of this Chapter. 

 
B. The Building Official has the power to render written and oral interpretations of the Building 

Codes in Section 15.02.020 and to adopt and enforce administrative procedures in order to 
clarify the application of their provisions.  Such interpretations, rules and regulations shall 
be in conformance with the intent and purpose of the codes, and shall not have the effect 
of waiving requirements specifically provided for in the codes. 

 
C. Liability.  The Building Official, and/or any employee charged with the enforcement of the 

Building Codes in Section 15.02.020, while acting for the jurisdiction in good faith and 
without malice in the discharge of the duties required by the codes or other pertinent law 
or ordinance, shall not thereby by civilly or criminally rendered liable personally and is 
hereby relieved from personal liability for any damage accruing to persons or property as a 
result of any act or by reason of an act or omission in the discharge of official duties. 

 
D. Legal Defense.  Any suit or criminal complaint instituted against the Building Official and/or 

any employee charged with the enforcement of the Building Codes in Section 15.02.030 
because of an act performed by that person in the lawful discharge of duties and under the 
provisions of this Chapter shall be defended by legal representatives of the City until the 
final termination of the proceedings.  The Building Official or any subordinate shall not be 
liable for cost in any action, suit or proceeding that is instituted in pursuance of the 
provisions of this code.   

 
E. Delegation of Authority.  The Building Official has the authority to delegate the authority 

necessary to carry out the provisions of this chapter to technical officers, inspectors, plan 
examiners and other employees of the City.   

82



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 12 of 29 

 
F. Right of Entry.  Where it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce the provisions of this 

Chapter, or where the Building Official has reasonable cause to believe that there exists in a 
structure or on a premises a condition that is contrary to or in violation of this Chapter that 
makes the structure or premises unsafe, dangerous or hazardous, the Building Official is 
authorized to enter the structure or premises at reasonable times to inspect or to perform 
the duties imposed by this Chapter, provided that if such structure or premises be occupied 
that credentials be presented to the occupant and entry requested.  If such structure or 
premises is unoccupied, the Building Official shall first make a reasonable effort to locate 
the owner or other person having charge or control of the structure or premises and 
request entry.  If entry is refused, the Building Official shall have recourse to the remedies 
provided by law to secure entry.  

  
G. Stop Work Orders.   

1. Whenever any work is being done contrary to the provisions of the Building Code ( or 
other pertinent laws or ordinances implemented through its enforcement), the Building 
Official may order the work stopped by written notice served on any person(s) engaged 
in the doing or causing of such work to be done. Such person(s) shall stop such work 
until specifically authorized by the Building Official to proceed thereafter.  
 

2. Any person who continues any work after having been served with a stop work order, 
except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe 
condition, is subject to the penalties of Section 15.02.100 of this code. 

 
H. Authority to Abate Hazardous Equipment. 

1. When the Building Official ascertains that equipment, or any portion thereof, regulated 
by the Building Code has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building 
Official may order the equipment either removed from its location or restored to a safe 
and/or sanitary condition, as appropriate. The notice must be in writing and contain a 
fixed time limit for compliance. Any person who uses the defective equipment after 
receiving the notice is subject to the penalties of Section 15.02.100 of this code.  
 

2. When equipment or an installation is to be disconnected, written notice of the 
disconnection (and causes therefor) must be given within 24 hours to the involved utility 
and also the owner and/or occupant of the building, structure, or premises. When 
equipment is maintained in violation of the Building Code and in violation of a notice 
issued pursuant to the provisions of this section, the Building Official may institute such 
action as the Building Official deems necessary to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the 
violation, including, but not limited to issuing civil penalties; declaring the building, 
structure, or premises dangerous; and denying entry. 

 
I. Occupancy Violations. Whenever any building, structure or equipment therein regulated by 

the this Chapter is used contrary to the provisions of the Building Codes, the Building 
Official may order such use discontinued and the structure (or portion thereof) vacated and 

83



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 13 of 29 

provide such order through written notice to the owner, occupant, and/or user of the 
building, structure, or equipment. All persons using the structure (or portion thereof) shall 
discontinue the use within the time prescribed by the Building Official in the notice and 
make the structure, or portion thereof, comply with the requirements of the Building Code. 
Structures that are altered, modified, or repaired without the benefit of permits, for 
purposes of adding rooms for tenants, shall be considered as occupancy violations and 
subject to the penalties of Section 15.02.100 of this code. 

 
J. Unsafe Buildings. When the Building Official ascertains that a building, structure, or 

premises, or any portion thereof, regulated by the Building Code is a public nuisance or 
otherwise has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building Official may order 
abatement by repair, rehabilitation, Demolition, or removal in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in the Building Code or such alternate procedures as may have been or 
as may be adopted by the City or the Building Official. As an alternative, the Building Official 
may institute any other appropriate action to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the 
violation. 

 
15.02.095 Applicability 
A. This code shall apply to the construction, erection, alteration, moving, enlargement, 

demolition, repair, improvement, conversion, maintenance, and work associated with any 
building or structure except those located in a public way. 

 
B. Where, in any specific case, there is a conflict between this code and the Oregon Revised 

Statutes, the Oregon Revised Statutes shall govern. 
 
C. When conflicts occur between the technical codes, those provisions providing the greater 

safety to life shall govern. In other conflicts where sanitation, life safety or fire safety are 
not involved, the most restrictive provisions shall govern. 

 
D. Where, in any specific case, different sections of this code specify different material 

methods of construction or other requirements, the most restrictive shall govern. Where 
there is a conflict between a general requirement and a specific requirement, the specific 
requirement shall be applicable. 

 
E. When conflicts occur between specific provisions of this code and administrative provisions 

in a technical code which is then applicable within this jurisdiction, those provisions 
becoming the law most recently shall prevail.  

 
15.02.100 Violations and Penalties 
A. It is unlawful and a public nuisance within the City of McMinnville for any person in charge 

of a premises to permit, allow or cause to exist, any substance, condition or act on the 
premises that is injurious or detrimental to the public health, welfare or safety. 
 

84



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 14 of 29 

B. The Building Official or designee may determine if a violation of this Chapter has occurred. 
 
C. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, it will be noticed and abated per the 

process and procedures outlined in Chapter 2.50 of the McMinnville Municipal Code. 
 
D. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, in addition to any corrective action 

ordered by the City, a person found to have violated the provisions of this Chapter may be 
assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day of continuing 
violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 2 Code Violation. 

 
E. If the violation is deemed to be an immediate public safety hazard, in addition to any 

corrective action ordered by the City, the amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day 
of continuing violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 1 violation. 

 
F. Notwithstanding the other remedies in this chapter, if the Building Official determines that 

any building under construction, mechanical work, or plumbing work on any building or any 
structure poses an immediate threat to the public health, safety or welfare, they may order 
the work halted and the building or structure vacated pending further action by the City and 
its legal counsel. 

 
G. The penalties and remedies provided in this section are not exclusive and are in addition to 

other penalties and remedies available under City ordinance or state statute. 
 
H. In addition to enforcement mechanisms authorized elsewhere in this code, failure to pay an 

administrative civil penalty imposed pursuant to this code shall be grounds for withholding 
issuance of requested permits or licenses, issuance of a stop work order, if applicable, or 
revocation or suspension of any issued permits or certificates of occupancy. 
 

 
15.02.200 Protests and Appeals 
A person aggrieved by an action of the Building Official taken pursuant to this Chapter may 
appeal that action per the process outlined in Chapter 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.   
  

85



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 15 of 29 

 
Chapter 15.04 

FIRE CODES 
Sections: 
 

15.04.010 Definitions 
15.04.020 Establishment of Duties. 
15.04.030 Adoption of Oregon Fire Code 
15.04.040 Fire Protection System Maintenance 
15.04.050 Restricted Uses During Fire Season 
15.04.060 City of McMinnville Modifications to the Oregon Fire Code. . 
15.04.070 Violations and Penalties 
15.04.080 Protests and Appeals 
 

15.04.010 Definitions 
The following definitions govern the implementation of this chapter. 
 
A. “Jurisdiction,” as used in the Oregon Fire Code, means the City of McMinnville 

(”McMinnville”). 
 
B. “Department of Fire Prevention,” as used in the Oregon Fire Code, means “Fire and Life 

Safety Division.” 
 
C. “Fire Code Official,” as used in the Oregon Fire Code, means the Fire Marshal or designee. 
 
D. “Apparatus cost” means the standardized cost, including repairs and depreciation, for the 

use of McMinnville Fire Department’s apparatus and or equipment, as set forth in adopted 
regulations of the State Fire Marshal or in City resolution, and the cost for the use of 
apparatus or equipment of another jurisdiction which may respond to an incident pursuant 
to statute or intergovernmental agreement. 

 
E. “Direct costs” means those costs of supplies, apparatus and labor incurred by the City or 

another jurisdiction in responding to an incident and as may be set forth in adopted 
regulations of the State Fire Marshal or in City resolution. 

 
F. “Direct fire or rescue services” means any service provided by employees of the City (1) to a 

person whose person or property is injured or threatened with injury; or (2) to a person 
whose property has injured or threatens to injure another person or another person’s 
property, for which a charge is not otherwise imposed under this code. “Direct fire or 
rescue services” includes, but is not limited to, the suppression of fires, the rescue of 
persons or property, the provision of medical assistance, and containment and cleanup of 
hazardous materials. 

 

86



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 16 of 29 

G. “Indirect costs” means those costs that are set forth in adopted regulations of the 
State Fire Marshal or in City resolution, and which are the product of the state “average 
response availability rate” and the time spent responding to an incident, together with the 
state “average support services cost per incident,” as defined by the State Fire Marshal. 

 
H. “General costs” means direct or indirect costs that are not attributable to any particular 

person who received direct fire and rescue services. 
 
I. “Gross negligence” means conduct with conscious indifference to or reckless disregard of 

the rights of others. 
 
J. “Labor costs” means the compensation paid by the City to its employees, including but not 

limited to base pay, overtime pay and fringe benefits, during the time spent responding to 
an incident. 

 
K. “Railroad right-of-way” means a right-of-way used for rail transportation. 
 
L. “Transportation route” means a roadway or waterway against which no taxes or 

assessments for fire protection are levied by the City.   
 
 

15.04.020 Establishment of Duties 
The Oregon Fire Code shall be enforced by the Code Official as defined by the Oregon Fire 
Code.  
 
15.04.030 Adoption of Oregon Fire Code 
Except as specifically excluded or modified by this chapter, the City of McMinnville adopts the 
Oregon Fire Code and appendices A through D, F, H, I, J, and K through N, which will be referred 
to in the McMinnville Municipal Code as the Oregon Fire Code (”OFC”). One (1) copy of the 
Oregon Fire Code and appendices shall be filed in the office of the City Recorder. 
 
15.04.040 Fire Protection System Maintenance 
Fire protection systems service providers providing inspections, tests, and maintenance 
required by OFC Section 901.6 and the referenced standards shall be qualified and shall provide 
the inspections, tests, and maintenance in accordance with the referenced standards. Failure by 
a company or individual service provider to follow the referenced standards is a Class 5 
violation. 
 
15.04.050 Restricted Uses During Fire Season 
A. The City of McMinnville will follow the Oregon Department of Forestry (“ODF”) burn 

restrictions and regulations during fire season. Open flame and fire pits are prohibited at 
high fire index.  Exemption: A seasonal permit for contractors can be obtained for use 

87



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 17 of 29 

within the City of McMinnville to allow for powered equipment use during fire season (i.e., 
landscape, construction, etc.). Working on or within one-eighth (1/8) of a mile of ODF-
protected property requires the contractor must contact ODF and get an additional permit 
issued from ODF if required. 

 
B. The Fire Code Official or designees may issue a permit which allows a person to conduct a 

restricted activity as long as specified fire prevention measures are taken to reduce the 
potential for fire ignition. Contractors, such as those performing landscape or construction 
work, may obtain a seasonal permit for use within the City to allow for powered equipment 
used during fire season. Working on or within one-eighth (1/8) of a mile of ODF-protected 
property requires the contractor to contact ODF to obtain an additional permit issued by 
ODF if required. 

 
15.04.060 City of McMinnville Modifications to the Oregon Fire Code 
McMinnville Fire Prevention Code incorporates the Oregon Fire Code current Edition except 
that the following referenced OFC sections are modified as set forth below: 
 
A. OFC Section: Fire Records is modified by the addition of the following language: 

Fire Investigation Reports for fires that are under investigation will not be released until the 
investigation is complete. Exception: The Fire Chief may release 
incomplete Fire Investigation Reports if warranted. 

 
B. OFC Section: Inspections is modified by the addition of the following language: 
 

1. Inspections outside of normal business hours: The Fire & Life Safety Division will make 
every attempt to conduct inspections during normal business hours (Monday thru 
Friday 8 am to 5 pm). If the applicant or business owner’s agent requests an inspection 
outside of normal business hours, or if the Fire Code Official determines a permit 
inspection is required and there is no other alternative but to conduct the inspection 
outside of normal business hours, the Fire Code Official shall inform the applicant or 
business agent there will be an after-hours inspection fee.  The inspection will not be 
performed until the required fees have been paid. 

 
2. Re-Inspection Fees.  Each Fire & Life Safety inspection is provided with one additional 

re-inspection at no additional cost to the business. If subsequent re-inspections starting 
with a second re-inspection is required, a fee shall be assessed.  Each additional re-
inspection required shall have an increased fees assessed.  Fees shall be set through a 
resolution of City Council. 

 
C. OFC Section: Permits is modified by the addition of the following language: 

Required permits may include, Operational and construction permits as allowed by the 
Oregon Fire Code. 

 

88



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 18 of 29 

A schedule of permit and service fees shall be established by resolution of the City Council 
and periodically amended by Council resolution and kept at McMinnville Fire Department 
and in the City Recorder’s office. 

 
15.04.070 Violations and Penalties 
A. It is unlawful and a public nuisance for any person violating or causing violation of any of 

the provisions of this chapter.  Such person, firm or corporation is guilty of a separate 
violation for each and every day during which any violation of this chapter is committed or 
continued by such person, firm or corporation. This violation can be retroactively applied to 
the first day the occupant or owner was made aware of the violation by the Fire Code 
Official. 

 
B. The Fire Code Official or designee may determine if a violation of this Chapter has occurred. 

 
C. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, it will be noticed and abated per the 

process and procedures outlined in Chapter 2.50 of the McMinnville Municipal Code. 
 
D. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, in addition to any corrective action 

ordered by the City, a person found to have violated the provisions of this Chapter may be 
assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day of continuing 
violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 3 Code Violation. 

 
E. For any violations of this chapter deemed to be life-threatening, a violation can be issued 

immediately for each and every occurrence, including multiple occurrences in one (1) day. 
Life-threatening hazards include but are not limited to overcrowding, locking or obstructing 
doors designated to remain unlocked, and shutting off or removing designated fire 
protection equipment. 

 
F. If the violation is deemed to be an immediate public safety hazard, in addition to any 

corrective action ordered by the City, the amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day 
of continuing violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 1 violation. 

 
G. The penalties and remedies provided in this section are not exclusive and are in addition to 

other penalties and remedies available under City ordinance or state statute 
 
15.04.080  Protests and Appeals 
A person aggrieved by an action of the Building Official taken pursuant to this Chapter may 
appeal that action per the process outlined in Chapter 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.   
  

89



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 19 of 29 

 
Chapter 15.06 

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION 
 

Sections: 
 

15.06.010 Adopted by Reference 
15.06.020 Authority to Alter Provisions 

 
 
15.06.010 Adopted by Reference 
The provisions of the current edition of the Oregon Standard Specifications for Construction, 
prepared by the Oregon Department of Transportation, are adopted and made a part hereof as 
if fully set out in this chapter, and all Public Works contracts hereafter entered into by the city, 
excepting the McMinnville Water and Light commission, shall include in the contract 
documents by reference all of the provisions of said specifications. 
 
15.06.020 Authority to Alter Provisions 
The City reserves the right to amend, enlarge or change any of the standard specifications in 
any construction contract hereafter entered into by and between the city and another party.  . 
 
 
  

90



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 20 of 29 

Chapter 15.08 
HOUSE MOVING REGULATIONS 

 
Sections: 
 

15.08.010 Purpose 
15.08.020 Relocation Permit Required 
15.08.030 Site and Street Occupancy Prohibited 
15.08.040 Applicant’s Burden 
15.08.050 Applications 
15.08.060 Authority to Decide Relocation Permit 
15.08.070 Permit Approval Process 
15.08.080 Demonstration of Zoning Compliance 
15.08.090 Approval Criteria 
15.08.100 Conditions 
15.08.110 Notice of Approved Relocation Permit 
15.08.115 Relocation of Historic Resources 
15.08.120 Violations and Penalties 
15.08.130 Protests and Appeals 

 
15.08.010 Purpose 
The purpose of this section is to establish an orderly process for reviewing requests for moving 
structures over City streets; minimizing damage to private and public property during the 
course of moving a structure, securing funds for the repair or restoration of damage caused by 
moving structures, minimizing disruption to traffic, public utilities, and communication services, 
protecting public safety and welfare, and ensuring compliance with applicable provisions of the 
McMinnville Municipal Code.  
 
15.08.020 Relocation Permit Required 
A building permit is required prior to moving any structure, which is ordinarily attached to real 
property over City streets. Buildings relocated from sites not within the City of McMinnville are 
subject to this chapter. In such cases the Community Development Director shall determine 
applicable code provisions. 
 
15.08.030 Site and Street Occupancy Prohibited 
A. Occupation of a relocated structure on any lot, tract, or other real property is prohibited 

without first obtaining zoning certification in accordance with this chapter, required 
building permits, and payment of all fees. 

 
B. Temporary storage of moved structures within the City of McMinnville is prohibited. 
 
C. Temporary placement of relocated structures within public and private streets is prohibited 

unless expressly authorized under an approved relocation permit.  

91



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 21 of 29 

 
15.08.040 Applicant’s Burden 
The applicant bears the burden of demonstrating compliance with all provisions of these 
regulations prior to issuance of a relocation permit.  
 
15.08.050 Applications 
A. An application fee, as adopted by Resolution of the McMinnville City Council, is required at 

the time of application submission.  Applications that are not accompanied by an 
application fee shall not be accepted.  

 
B. Applicants will be required to provide insurance as set by City Council.   

 
C. The applicant shall pay a refundable deposit for damages incurred within the public right of 

way or other city property, facilities or utilities.  Deposit to be set by Resolution of the 
McMinnville City Council.   

 
15.08.060 Authority to Decide Relocation Permit 
The Community Development Director, or designee, shall interpret, apply, and enforce 
provisions of this chapter except for zoning and land-use regulations, which shall be 
administered by the Planning Director.  
 
15.08.070 Permit Approval Prohibited 
No building relocation permit shall be issued until all liens, charges, and billings applicable to 
the donor site and owed the City have been paid to the satisfaction of the Finance Director.  
 
15.08.080 Demonstration of Zoning Compliance 
A. The applicant shall demonstrate consistency with the McMinnville Zoning Ordinance for the 

donor and receiving sites located within the City of McMinnville prior to issuance of a 
relocation permit. 

 
B. Zoning Certification 

 
1. The relocation permit application shall include sufficient information necessary for 

determination of zoning compliance for receiving sites and determination of the 
structure’s historic preservation landmark status under the McMinnville Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 
2. The Planning Director shall determine whether the applicant has demonstrated 

compliance with the Zoning Ordinance within seven (7) workdays of a complete 
application being received. 

 

92



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 22 of 29 

15.08.090 Approval Criteria 
The Community Development Director, or designee, may approve, approve with conditions, or 
deny relocation permit applications. Applications for a relocation permit shall be approved only 
when the following items have been submitted or otherwise resolved to the Community 
Development Director’s satisfaction. The Community Development Director shall consider 
recommendations of the Building Official, Planning Director, Public Works Division, Police Chief, 
Fire Marshall, Oregon Department of Transportation, Yamhill County, Utility Providers and 
others as appropriate. 
 
A. Complete relocation permit application and deposit; 
 
B. Proposed route, time and date of the move; 
 
C. Proof of required insurance and endorsements. 
 
D. Certification of zoning compliance; 
 
E. Determination that the proposed time and route of the move is safe and minimizes 

disruption to traffic; 
 
F. Proof of approved building permits for receiving site when located in the City of 

McMinnville; 
 
G. The demolition permit for donor site showing proper disconnection and capping of site 

utilities; 
 
I. Specification of loaded height, width, and length of structure to be moved, and all escort 

and other vehicles; 
 
J. Specification of wheel weight in pounds per square inch; 
 
K. Identification of all obstructions within the public right-of-way and private property to be 

removed. Trees that must be pruned or removed are also to be identified. A tree permit 
may be required in accordance with Section 17.58.040 of this code; if a street tree, a private 
tree, or a sign must be pruned or removed to accommodate a house move and otherwise 
meets current clearance requirements, removal and replacement costs will be paid by the 
applicant.  

 
L. Identification of all traffic controls along the move-route; 
 
M. Traffic control plan; 
 

93



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 23 of 29 

N. Certification from utility providers, county, and state agencies (“Agency” or “Agencies”) 
along the route of move certifying acceptability of the proposed move and specifying any 
conditions that are imposed as a condition of the certification; 

  
1. Applicant will prepare for Agency review with any request for certification a map or 

drawing describing the route of the move and show any above-ground utility facilities, 
signage, or lighting in the route. 

 
2. Applicant will pay costs, fees and charges required by an Agency for review of utility, 

lighting, or signage systems related to certification. 
 
O. Authorization by owners of the donor and receiving sites to make application for the move; 
 
P. Written confirmation from the Finance Director that all liens, charges, and billings 

applicable to the donor site have been satisfied; 
 
Q. A security deposit as required to secure repair of any damage to City property or Agency 

facilities in an amount to be determined by the Community Development Director; 
 
R. Additional information as may be specified to demonstrate compliance with this chapter.  

 
15.08.100 Conditions 
A relocation permit may be conditioned to specify conditions including but not limited to the 
following: 
 
A. Time of move; 
 
B. Route of move; 
 
C. Overall length, width, and height of structure to be moved; 
 
D. Axle weight or wheel weight in pounds per square inch of tire; 
 
E. Number and location of vehicle escorts; 
 
F. Required traffic controls; 
 
G. Terms for repair of damage to roadways, property, or other City or Agency facilities.  
 
15.08.110 Notice of Approved Relocation Permit 
The applicant shall post a notice of approved relocation permit on the property or structure so 
that it is visible from the street, giving notice of intent to relocate the structure. The notice shall 
be in the form prescribed by the Community Development Director and shall be posted the 

94



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 24 of 29 

same day the permit is approved. The notice must remain posted for five (5) workdays 
thereafter.  
 
15.08.115 Relocation of Historic Resources 
A. Certificate of Approval Required.  Prior to any exterior alteration or relocation of a historic 

resource on the McMinnville Historic Resources Inventory, the owner must apply for and 
receive a Certificate of Approval per Section 17.65.040(C) of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.  No alteration of the historic landmark shall occur prior to the issuance of the Historic 
Landmarks Committee’s decision on the Certificate of Approval for Alteration application. 
 

B. Fees Waived for Eligible Historic Resources.  Certain municipal fees are hereby waived, 
subject to compliance with this chapter, in the instances where a structure which is 
designated as “distinctive” or “significant” on the McMinnville Historic Resources Inventory 
is being moved from one lot within the city to another lot in the city. The Historic Resources 
Inventory is on file in the city planning department.  

 
1. Fees to be Waived.  The fees to be waived are the parks and wastewater system 

development charges imposed in Section 3.10.020 of the McMinnville Municipal Code, 
and any moving, foundation and plumbing permit fees imposed by this Chapter.   

 
2. Covenant Required.  In return for the fee waiver the owner of the structure to be moved 

shall covenant with the city to guarantee that the structure shall be maintained in its 
historic character and that all exterior alterations, as defined in MMC 17.06.060, shall be 
made in compliance with the Certificate of Approval process described in MMC 
17.65.060.  

 
3. Fee Waiver Rescinded. In the event that an applicant decides to proceed with 

alterations that were not approved by the Historic Landmarks Committee through the 
Certificate of Approval for Alteration process in Section 17.65.060 of the McMinnville 
Municipal Code, all fees waived under Section 15.08.115 of this Chapter will become 
due and payable. Fees to be paid will be based on the then current fee schedules.  

 
4. Certificate of Fee Waiver.  Upon issuance of the certificate of occupancy for the new 

location of the historic resource, the city shall record a Certificate of Fee Waiver on the 
property documenting the date and amount of the fee waiver with the Yamhill County 
Recorder’s Office. 

 
15.08.120 Violations and Penalties 
In addition to any corrective action ordered by the city, a person found to have violated the 
provisions of this section may be assessed a civil penalty. The amount of the civil penalty 
assessed for each day of continued violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 
3 code violation.   

 

95



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 25 of 29 

15.08.130 Protests and Appeals 
A person aggrieved by the decision on a relocation permit taken pursuant to this Chapter may 
appeal that action per the process outlined in Chapter 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.   
 
  

96



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 26 of 29 

Chapter 2.50 
CODE COMPLIANCE 

 
 
New proposed language is represented by underline font, deleted language is represented 
by strikethrough font. 

 
 
2.50.010 Applicability of Chapter 
A. The provisions of this chapter apply to the enforcement of civil code provisions identified in 

the following portions of the McMinnville Municipal Code, including all plans, permits, or 
licenses adopted or issued pursuant to such provisions : 
 
1. All chapters of Title 5 (Business Taxes, Licenses and Regulations) 

 
2. All chapters of Title 8 (Health and Safety) 

 
3. All chapters of Title 15 (Buildings and Construction) 

 
4. All chapters of Title 17 (Zoning) and all ordinance adopted pursuant to Title 17 or the 

McMinnville Comprehensive Plan, regardless of whether such ordinance are codified in 
the McMinnville Municipal Code. 

 
B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this section, the provisions of this 

chapter do not apply to the enforcement of any violation identified as a misdemeanor or for 
which the punishment may include any term of imprisonment, or to any criminal, traffic or 
parking laws, including the laws set forth in the following Titles of the McMinnville 
Municipal Code: 
 
1. Title 9 – Public Peace, Morals and Welfare 

 
2. Title 10 – Vehicles and Traffic 

  

97



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 27 of 29 

Chapter 8.10 
PUBLIC NUISANCES 

 
 

 
New proposed language is represented by underline font, deleted language is represented 
by strikethrough font. 

 
Sections: 
 
8.10.035 Storage 
 
8.10.250 Motor Vehicles 
A. A person in charge of a premises must not permit, allow or cause to exist any discarded 

motor vehicle (including motor vehicles parts such as bodies, engines, transmissions and 
rear ends) on the premises, except that a person may store a discarded motor vehicle: 
 
1. Within in a building that is wholly or entirely enclosed except for doors used for ingress 

or egress 
 

2. In a back yard of a residential property if the discarded motor vehicle: 
 

a. Is screened by a sight-obscuring fence so that it is not visible from adjoining 
properties, streets and public right of ways, and/or 
 

b. Is covered by an approved car cover, that is maintained free of deterioration, 
tearing, dirt and dust accumulation; and 

 
c. Is maintained in a manner that does not attract vermin, produce an offensive odor, 

or otherwise become a danger to public health or safety. 
 

3. In connection with an authorized and permitted business dealing in junked vehicles. 
 

B. For the purpose of this section, "discarded motor vehicle" means any motor vehicle that: 
 
1. Has been inoperative for a period of more than 30 days; 

 
2. Is wrecked; 

 
3. Is dismantled, in whole or part; 

 
4. Is junked or abandoned; or, 

 
5. Has a vehicle registration sticker expired for more than two (2) months. 

98



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 28 of 29 

C. A person in charge of a premises in a residential zone must not permit, allow or cause to 
exist motor vehicles, RVs, boats or trailers to be parked or placed in front yards or exterior 
side yards of the premises, unless the area used for parking or storage consists of non-
erodible surfaces such as asphalt, concrete or pavers, or gravel with a minimum depth of 
four inches that consists of traffic bound or dense-grade gravel. 
 

D. A person in charge of a premises in a residential zone must not permit, allow or cause to 
exist parking or storage areas consisting of non-erodible surfaces in front or exterior side 
yards of the premises to use more than 40% of the yard area.  For the purposes of this 
section, “yard area” is measured as the space between the front and side building lines to 
the property line of the premises. 

 
E. A person in charge of a premises in a residential zone must not permit, allow or cause to 

exist parking or storage areas that are less than twenty feet in depth from the property line 
of the premises when the parking or storage area is perpendicular to the property line. 
 

F. In addition to any corrective action ordered by the City, a person found to have violated the 
provisions of this section may be assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil penalty 
assessed for each day of continuing violation will not exceed the amount established for a 
Class 5 Code Violation. 

 
8.10.305 Storage 
A. Unless otherwise specifically allowed by state regulations or this code, a person in charge 

of a premises must not permit, allow or cause to exist any storage of items of personal 
property out-of-doors, or outside a building or structure that is not enclosed or screened 
from public view. 
 

B. Not withstanding subsection (A) of this section, the following items of personal property 
may be stored outside of a building or structure: 
 
1. Firewood that is stacked and usable.  “Usable” firewood has more wood than rot and 

is cut to lengths that will fit a lawful fireplace or wood stove on the premises; 
 

2. Construction material, if the construction material is temporarily stored and is stored 
in a manner to protect its utility and to prevent is deterioration and the construction 
material is to be used for construction on the premises; 
 

3. All other items of personal property which are of a type, condition or quantity 
consistent with normal and intended outside use. By way of illustration, but not 
limitation, as used in this section, items of personal property include barbeque grills, 
lawn furniture, and solid waste disposal receptacles. 
 

99



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 29 of 29 

C. In addition to any corrective action ordered by the City, a person found to have violated 
the provisions of this section may be assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil 
penalty assessed for each day of continuing violation will not exceed the amount 
established for a Class 5 Code Violation. 

 

100



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 1 of 29 

ORDINANCE NO. 5093 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING TITLE 15 OF THE MCMINNVILLE 
CITY CODE, SPECIFIC TO BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION, AMENDING 
SECTION 2.50.510, SPECIFIC TO CODE COMPLIANCE - APPLICABILITY, AND 
SECTIONS 8,10.250, HEALTH AND SAFETY – MOTOR VEHICLES, AND SECTION 
8.10.035, HEALTH AND SAFETY – STORAGE.   
 
 
RECITALS: 
 

WHEREAS, The City of McMinnville in an effort to provide for the welfare, safety 
and health of the citizens of the City of McMinnville has a local McMinnville Municipal 
Code; and  

 
WHEREAS, Title 15 of the McMinnville City Code governs local codes relative to 

“Buildings and Construction”; and 
 
WHEREAS, Title 15 has not been updated since 1980; and 
 
WHEREAS, Codes, best practices and program parameters have changed 

substantially for buildings and construction since 1980; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of McMinnville would like to continue to provide for the 

welfare, safety and health of the citizens of the City of McMinnville relative to buildings 
and construction with updated local codes reflecting current best practices; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of McMinnville does not have a property maintenance code 

and has received many complaints from citizens regarding properties that are not 
maintained to a minimum standard of maintenance, safety and health; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of McMinnville would like to update its local fire codes for 

buildings and construction to ensure the safety, welfare and health of its citizens and 
businesses; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Oregon Building Codes Division adopts Oregon’s State Building 

Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State allows for adoption of several optional appendices to the 

Building Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, the State allows adoption of local ordinances regulating matters not 

otherwise encompassed by the State Building Code under ORS 455.030; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has the authority under ORS 455.020(4) to enact certain 

building code regulations to supplement the Statewide Building Code; and  

101



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 2 of 29 

 
WHEREAS, having a consistent local administrative chapter is intended to provide 

for consistent application of all adopted specialty codes. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE COMMON COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF MCMINNVILLE 
ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:   
 

1. That Title 15 (BUILDINGS AND CONSTRUCTION), of the McMinnville 
City Code is repealed and replaced as provided in Exhibit A to this Ordinance.   

 
2. That this Ordinance is effective thirty days from its adoption. 

 
Passed by the Council this 14th day of July, 2020, by the following votes: 
 

Ayes:   _____________________________________________ 
 

Nays:   _____________________________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ 
MAYOR 
 
 
 
Attest:  Approved as to form: 
 
_________________________  _____________________________ 
City Recorder  City Attorney 
  

102



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 3 of 29 

 
 

CITY OF MCMINNVILLE 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

231 NE FIFTH STREET 
MCMINNVILLE, OR  97128 

 
503-434-7311 

www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov  
 

 
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE MCMINNVILLE MUNICIPAL CITY CODE 
 
 

The following language will replace Title 15 of the McMinnville Municipal Code 
 
 

TITLE 15  BUILDINGS and CONSTRUCTION 
 
CHAPTERS: 
 

15.02 Building Codes 
15.04 Fire Codes 
15.06 Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction 
15.08 House Moving Regulations 

 
  

 

EXHIBIT A 

103

http://www.mcminnvilleoregon.gov/


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 4 of 29 

 
Chapter 15.02 

BUILDING CODES 
 
Sections: 
 

15.02.010 Administration 
15.02.020 Building Codes 
15.02.030 Revisions to Codes 
15.02.040 Alternate Materials, Methods of Design and Methods of Construction 
15.02.050 Modifications 
15.02.060 Permits 
15.02.070 Inspections 
15.02.080 Fees 
15.02.090 Powers and Duties of Building Official 
15.02.095 Applicability 
15.02.100 Violations and Penalties 
15.02.200 Protests and Appeals 
 

15.02.010 Administration 
A. The City provides a building inspection program, including plan review, permit issuance and 

inspection for the adopted specialty building codes listed in section 15.02.020 of this 
Chapter.   

 
B. The program is administered by the Building Official under the supervision of the City 

Manager or designee and the authority of ORS 455.150(3).   
 
C. The Building Official is authorized to adopt rules of procedure for such administration that 

include, the authority to stop work and disallow occupancy or use of any building or service 
equipment in violation of this ordinance; the authority to refund all or part of building 
permit application fees for cause; and the authority to dispose of permit applications and 
supporting documents, and to declare permits to have expired, at a point in time after 
applications are received and after permits have been issued. 

 
D. The program provides services in accordance with its operating plan as required by  

OAR 918-020-0090 and the remainder of this chapter. 
 
15.02.020 Building Codes 
The City adopts the most recent editions of the following codes: 
 
A. Application of the Building Code.  ORS Chapter 455.150 and OAR 918-020-0010 through 

OAR 918-020-0490 are adopted by reference. A violation of a provision in those State laws 
is an offense against the City. 

104



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 5 of 29 

 
B. Oregon Structural Specialty Code, as adopted by ORS 455.150 through 455.895, OAR 918-

460-0000 through 918-460-0070 (hereinafter “Structural Specialty Code”); 
 
C. Oregon Mechanical Specialty Code, as adopted by OAR 918-440-0000 through 918-440-

0510; 
 
D. Oregon Plumbing Specialty Code, as adopted by ORS 447.020(2), OAR 918-750-0110 and 

delegated to the city by ORS 455.153 (hereinafter “Plumbing Specialty Code”); 
 
E. Oregon One- and Two-Family Dwelling Specialty Code, as adopted by ORS 455.610 and OAR 

918-480-0001 through 918-480-0150 (hereinafter called the “One- and Two-Family 
Specialty Code”). 

 
F. Oregon Manufactured Dwelling Installation Specialty Code as adopted by ORS 446.230.  
 
G. Oregon Manufactured Dwelling and Parks Specialty Code as scoped by OAR 918-600-0010 

and adopted ORS 446. 
 
H. International Property Maintenance Code, as published by the International Code Council 

with the following modifications: 
1. Section 101.1. Insert: City of McMinnville 

 
2. Section 103.5. Insert: Will not exceed the amount established by a Class 1 Code Violation 

plus full cost recovery as established by the City of McMinnville Fee Schedule.  
 

3. Section 109.6. Amend “Any person ordered to take emergency measures shall comply 
with such order forthwith. Any affected person shall thereafter, upon petition directed to 
the appeals board, be afforded a hearing as described in this code, protest and appeal 
per section 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal Code”. 
 

4. Section 111.  Amend.  Appeals will be processed per section 2.50.510 of the McMinnville 
Municipal Code.  
 

5. Section 112.4. Insert: Will not exceed the amount established by a Class 4 Code 
Violation. 
 

6. Section 302.4. Insert: 10 inches (height of weeds/overgrown grass allowed in local 
jurisdiction]. 
 

7. Section 304.14. Insert: May 1 through October 30. 
 

8. Section 308.2.2.  Delete entire section.   
 

105

http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.01
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.895
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=447.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.153
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/ors.pl?cite=455.610


---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 6 of 29 

9. Section 602.3 Insert: October 1 through June 30. 
 

10. Section 602.4 Insert: October 1 through June 30.. 
 
I. International Building Code, Appendix J, Grading with the following modifications: 

1. J101.2 Flood Hazard Areas. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Unless the applicant has submitted an engineering analysis, prepared in accordance with 
standard engineering practice by a registered design professional, that demonstrates the 
proposed work will not result in any increase in the level of the base flood, and has a 
permit from the Department of State Lands, grading, excavation and earthwork 
construction, including fills and embankments, shall not be permitted in floodways that 
are in recognized flood hazard areas or in flood hazard areas where design flood 
elevations are specified but floodways have not been designated.   
 

2. J102.1 Definitions. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
The following words and terms shall, for the purposes of this code, have the meanings 
shown herein. Refer to Chapter 2 of the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code for 
general definitions. 
 

3. J103.2 Exemptions. Item 2 deleted and replaced with: Excavation for construction of a 
structure permitted under the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code. 
 

4. J103.2 Exemptions.  Last paragraph deleted and replaced with:  Exemption from the 
permit requirements of this code shall not be deemed to grant authorization for any 
work to be done in any manner in violation of the provisions of any other laws or 
ordinances of this jurisdiction.   
 

5. J104.1 Submittal Requirements. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Grading plans must be prepared by an Oregon registered design professional. 
Exception: The building official may waive the need for an Oregon registered design 
professional where the nature of work is determined not to be highly technical in nature 
or there is no unreasonable potential risk to life or safety. 
 

6. J104.4 Liquefaction Study. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Where local zoning allows for development on sites with mapped maximum considered 
earthquake spectral response accelerations at short periods (S1) greater than 0.5g as 
determined by the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code, a study of the liquefaction 
potential of the site shall be provided and the recommendations incorporated in the 
plans.   
 

7. J105.1 General Requirements. Section deleted and replaced with the following: 
Inspection shall be governed by the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code.   
 

8. J105.2 Special inspections.  Section deleted and replaced with the following: 

106



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 7 of 29 

The special inspection requirements of the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code shall 
apply to work performed under a grading permit where required by the building official. 

 
15.02.030 Revisions to Codes 
From time to time revisions, amendments and/or other changes are made to the codes 
identified in section 15.02.020 of this chapter.  The amended codes are issued as new editions. 
The new editions of the codes adopted in section 15.02.020 of this chapter shall be considered 
adopted by the city.  
 
15.02.040 Alternate Materials, Methods of Design and Methods of 
Construction 
A. The provisions of the technical codes are not intended to prevent the use of any material 

method of design or method of construction not specifically prescribed by the technical 
codes, provided an alternate has been approved and its use authorized by the building 
official. 

 
B. The building official may approve an alternate, provided the building official finds that the 

proposed design is satisfactory and complies with the provisions of the technical codes and 
that the material, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, at least the 
equivalent of that prescribed in the technical codes in suitability, strength, effectiveness, 
fire resistance, durability, safety and sanitation. 

 
C. The building official shall require that sufficient evidence or proof be submitted to 

substantiate claims that may be made regarding its use. The details of an action granting 
approval of an alternate shall be recorded and entered in the files of the code enforcement 
agency.  

 
15.02.050 Modifications 
Whenever there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the provisions of the technical 
codes, the building official may grant modifications for individual cases. The building official 
shall first find that a special individual reason makes the strict letter of the technical code 
impractical and the modification is in conformity with the intent and purpose of the technical 
code, and that such modification does not lessen health, life and fire safety requirements or 
any degree of structural integrity. The details of actions granting modifications shall be 
recorded and entered in the files of the code enforcement agency.  
 
15.02.060 Permits 
A. Permits Required.  Any owner, person, or authorized agent who intends to construct, alter, 

enlarge, repair, move, demolish, or change the occupancy of any building, structure, 
appurtenance, or service equipment or cause any such work to be done must first make 
application to the building official and obtain the required permit. 

107



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 8 of 29 

 
B. The permit holder or applicant shall not proceed with construction activity prior to issuance 

of a permit or until receiving specific written authorization to do so by the Building Official.   
 
C. Work requiring a permit shall not be commenced until the permit holder or an authorized 

agent of the permit holder has made available on site, a copy of the permit authorizing such 
work and supporting documents such as City approved construction documents.  The 
permit and supporting documents shall be maintained and available by the permit holder 
until final approval has been granted by the Building Official.   

 
D. The issuance of a permit based on construction documents and other data does not prevent 

the Building Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in the construction 
documents and other data, or from preventing building operation, such as building 
inspections, plan reviews, permit issuance, and investigations, from being carried on 
thereunder when in violation of this Chapter or aof any other ordinances of this jurisdiction.   

 
E. Partial Permits.  The Building Official is authorized to promulgate additional administrative 

rules and regulations related to the efficient administration and review of partial permits.  
Elements for partial permits shall include but not be limited to deferred submittals, 
temporary permits and phased construction.   

 
F. Design Profession of Responsible Charge.  Where it is required that documents be prepared 

by a registered design professional, the Building Official shall be authorized to require the 
owner or the owner's authorized agent to engage and designate on the building permit 
application a registered design professional who shall act as the registered design 
professional in responsible charge. If the circumstances require, the owner or the owner's 
authorized agent shall designate a substitute registered design professional in responsible 
charge who shall perform the duties required of the original registered design professional 
in responsible charge. The Building Official shall be notified in writing by the owner or the 
owner's authorized agent if the registered design professional in responsible charge is 
changed or is unable to continue to perform the duties. The registered design professional 
in responsible charge shall be responsible for reviewing and coordinating submittal 
documents prepared by others, including phased and deferred submittal items, for 
compatibility with the design of the building. 

 
G. Work without a permit – Investigation fee. 

1. Whenever work for which a permit as required by this code has been commenced 
without first obtaining a permit, a special investigation shall be made before a permit 
may be issued for such work. 
 

2. An investigation fee, in addition to the permit fees, shall be collected whether or not a 
permit is then or subsequently issued. The payment of such investigation fee shall not 
exempt an applicant from compliance with all other provisions of either this code, any 
technical codes nor from any penalties prescribed by law. 

108



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 9 of 29 

 
H. Suspension or Revocation.  The Building Official may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit 

issued under the provision of this Chapter whenever the Permit is issued in error on the 
basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information supplied, or if its issuance (or 
activity thereunder) is in violation of any ordinance or regulation of any other provisions of 
the McMinnville Municipal Code. 

 
I. The Building Official may adopt administrative procedures regarding permit and permit 

application expirations, extensions, and/or reinstatements. 
 
15.02.070 Inspections 
A. It shall be the duty of the Permit holder or authorized agent to request all inspections that 

may be necessary or otherwise required in a timely manner, provide access to the site, and 
to provide all equipment as may be deemed necessary or appropriate by the Building 
Official.   

 
B. The Building Official shall make the required inspections, or the Building Official shall have 

the authority to accept reports of inspection by approved agencies or individuals.  The 
Building Official is authorized to engage such expert opinion as deemed necessary to report 
on unusual technical issues that arise. 

 
C. Special Inspections. 

1. When special inspection is required by the Structural Specialty Code, the owner or the 
owner’s authorized agent, other than the contractor, shall prepare an inspection 
program which shall be submitted to the building official for approval prior to issuance 
of a building permit. The inspection program shall designate the portions of the work 
that require special inspection and the name or names of individuals or firms who are to 
perform the special inspections, and indicate the duties of the special inspectors. 
 

2. The special inspector shall be employed by the owner, the engineer or architect of 
record, or an agent of the owner, but not the contractor or any other person 
responsible for the work. In situations where the owner is also the contractor, the 
building official shall have the authority to require the selection of a special inspector 
who is independent from the employment of the owner/contractor. 
 

3. When structural observation is required by a Structural Specialty Code, the inspection 
program shall name the individuals or firms who are to perform structural observation 
and describe the stages of construction at which structural observation is to occur. 
 

4. The inspection program shall include samples of inspection reports and provide time 
limits for submission of reports.  

 
D. Failure to Obtain or Request Final Inspection or Issuance of Certificate of Occupancy.   

109



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 10 of 29 

1. Prior to occupancy of newly constructed commercial or residential buildings or altered 
commercial buildings a final inspection must be approved by the Building Official.  For a 
new building, a certificate of occupancy will be issued signifying compliance with the 
applicable codes of the City.  For remodel work, a certificate of completion may be 
issued.   
 

2. Other permitted work such as mechanical installations or structures that do not involve 
occupancy by persons, must receive a final inspection from the Building Official within 
180 days after the work has been completed.  
 

3. Whenever any building, structure or equipment therein regulated by this Chapter is 
occupied or in use without a final inspection or certificate of occupancy, the Building 
Official is authorized to use all means authorized to compel completion of permitted 
work.  This includes issuing an order for occupancy or use to be discontinued, and the 
structure (or portion thereof) vacated. All persons using the structure (or portion 
thereof) shall discontinue the use within the time prescribed by the Building Official and 
make the structure, or portion thereof, comply with the requirements of the Building 
Code. The Building Official may cause the water service to be discontinued pending the 
completion of the final inspection and obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy. The Building 
Official shall notify the occupants of the discontinuation of water service in the notice to 
complete final inspection and obtain certificate of occupancy. 
 

4. If a permit holder receives a temporary certificate of occupancy and does not complete 
all of the requirements of the permit in a timely manner, the Building Official may 
declare it a violation of this Chapter and seek remedy by all means authorized up to and 
including ordering the occupancy or use discontinued, and the structure vacated.  All 
persons using the structure (or portion thereof) shall discontinue the use within the 
time prescribed by the Building Official and make the structure, or portion thereof, 
comply with the requirements of the permit. The Building Official may cause the water 
service to be discontinued pending the completion of the final inspection and obtaining 
a Certificate of Occupancy. The Building Official shall notify the occupants of the 
discontinuation of water service in the notice to complete final inspection and obtain 
certificate of occupancy.  And the Building Official may issue a citation for a Class 4 Code 
Violation each day of the occurrence of the violation. 

 
15.02.080 Fees 
A. Fees for permits and other related services pursuant to the building inspection program will 

be established by resolution of the City Council and updated regularly as appropriate. 
 
B. Fee refunds and waivers. 

1. The Building Official may authorize refunding of any fee paid thereunder which was 
erroneously paid or collected. 
 

110



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 11 of 29 

2. The Building Official may authorize refunding of any fee refund made voluntarily in 
writing within 180 days of fee payment.  A portion of the refund, as set in the adopted 
fee schedule, shall be retained. 
 

3. The Building Official may authorize refunding of the permit fees paid as required by this 
code when no work has been begun under a permit issued in accordance with this code. 
Permit fee refunds shall not exceed the amount set forth by the fee schedule. 
 

4. The Building Official may authorize a refund of plan review fees paid as required under 
this code if an application for a plan review permit is withdrawn or canceled before any 
plan review is conducted. Plan review fee refunds shall not exceed the amount set forth 
by the fee schedule. 

5. The Building Official shall not authorize refunding of any fee paid except on written 
application filed by the original permit holder not later than 180 days after date of fee 
payment. 

 
15.02.090 Powers and Duties of Building Official 
A. The Building Official is authorized to enforce all of the provisions of this Chapter. 

 
B. The Building Official has the power to render written and oral interpretations of the Building 

Codes in Section 15.02.020 and to adopt and enforce administrative procedures in order to 
clarify the application of their provisions.  Such interpretations, rules and regulations shall 
be in conformance with the intent and purpose of the codes, and shall not have the effect 
of waiving requirements specifically provided for in the codes. 

 
C. Liability.  The Building Official, and/or any employee charged with the enforcement of the 

Building Codes in Section 15.02.020, while acting for the jurisdiction in good faith and 
without malice in the discharge of the duties required by the codes or other pertinent law 
or ordinance, shall not thereby by civilly or criminally rendered liable personally and is 
hereby relieved from personal liability for any damage accruing to persons or property as a 
result of any act or by reason of an act or omission in the discharge of official duties. 

 
D. Legal Defense.  Any suit or criminal complaint instituted against the Building Official and/or 

any employee charged with the enforcement of the Building Codes in Section 15.02.030 
because of an act performed by that person in the lawful discharge of duties and under the 
provisions of this Chapter shall be defended by legal representatives of the City until the 
final termination of the proceedings.  The Building Official or any subordinate shall not be 
liable for cost in any action, suit or proceeding that is instituted in pursuance of the 
provisions of this code.   

 
E. Delegation of Authority.  The Building Official has the authority to delegate the authority 

necessary to carry out the provisions of this chapter to technical officers, inspectors, plan 
examiners and other employees of the City.   

111



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 12 of 29 

 
F. Right of Entry.  Where it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce the provisions of this 

Chapter, or where the Building Official has reasonable cause to believe that there exists in a 
structure or on a premises a condition that is contrary to or in violation of this Chapter that 
makes the structure or premises unsafe, dangerous or hazardous, the Building Official is 
authorized to enter the structure or premises at reasonable times to inspect or to perform 
the duties imposed by this Chapter, provided that if such structure or premises be occupied 
that credentials be presented to the occupant and entry requested.  If such structure or 
premises is unoccupied, the Building Official shall first make a reasonable effort to locate 
the owner or other person having charge or control of the structure or premises and 
request entry.  If entry is refused, the Building Official shall have recourse to the remedies 
provided by law to secure entry.  

  
G. Stop Work Orders.   

1. Whenever any work is being done contrary to the provisions of the Building Code ( or 
other pertinent laws or ordinances implemented through its enforcement), the Building 
Official may order the work stopped by written notice served on any person(s) engaged 
in the doing or causing of such work to be done. Such person(s) shall stop such work 
until specifically authorized by the Building Official to proceed thereafter.  
 

2. Any person who continues any work after having been served with a stop work order, 
except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe 
condition, is subject to the penalties of Section 15.02.100 of this code. 

 
H. Authority to Abate Hazardous Equipment. 

1. When the Building Official ascertains that equipment, or any portion thereof, regulated 
by the Building Code has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building 
Official may order the equipment either removed from its location or restored to a safe 
and/or sanitary condition, as appropriate. The notice must be in writing and contain a 
fixed time limit for compliance. Any person who uses the defective equipment after 
receiving the notice is subject to the penalties of Section 15.02.100 of this code.  
 

2. When equipment or an installation is to be disconnected, written notice of the 
disconnection (and causes therefor) must be given within 24 hours to the involved utility 
and also the owner and/or occupant of the building, structure, or premises. When 
equipment is maintained in violation of the Building Code and in violation of a notice 
issued pursuant to the provisions of this section, the Building Official may institute such 
action as the Building Official deems necessary to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the 
violation, including, but not limited to issuing civil penalties; declaring the building, 
structure, or premises dangerous; and denying entry. 

 
I. Occupancy Violations. Whenever any building, structure or equipment therein regulated by 

the this Chapter is used contrary to the provisions of the Building Codes, the Building 
Official may order such use discontinued and the structure (or portion thereof) vacated and 

112



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 13 of 29 

provide such order through written notice to the owner, occupant, and/or user of the 
building, structure, or equipment. All persons using the structure (or portion thereof) shall 
discontinue the use within the time prescribed by the Building Official in the notice and 
make the structure, or portion thereof, comply with the requirements of the Building Code. 
Structures that are altered, modified, or repaired without the benefit of permits, for 
purposes of adding rooms for tenants, shall be considered as occupancy violations and 
subject to the penalties of Section 15.02.100 of this code. 

 
J. Unsafe Buildings. When the Building Official ascertains that a building, structure, or 

premises, or any portion thereof, regulated by the Building Code is a public nuisance or 
otherwise has become hazardous to life, health, or property, the Building Official may order 
abatement by repair, rehabilitation, Demolition, or removal in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in the Building Code or such alternate procedures as may have been or 
as may be adopted by the City or the Building Official. As an alternative, the Building Official 
may institute any other appropriate action to prevent, restrain, correct or abate the 
violation. 

 
15.02.095 Applicability 
A. This code shall apply to the construction, erection, alteration, moving, enlargement, 

demolition, repair, improvement, conversion, maintenance, and work associated with any 
building or structure except those located in a public way. 

 
B. Where, in any specific case, there is a conflict between this code and the Oregon Revised 

Statutes, the Oregon Revised Statutes shall govern. 
 
C. When conflicts occur between the technical codes, those provisions providing the greater 

safety to life shall govern. In other conflicts where sanitation, life safety or fire safety are 
not involved, the most restrictive provisions shall govern. 

 
D. Where, in any specific case, different sections of this code specify different material 

methods of construction or other requirements, the most restrictive shall govern. Where 
there is a conflict between a general requirement and a specific requirement, the specific 
requirement shall be applicable. 

 
E. When conflicts occur between specific provisions of this code and administrative provisions 

in a technical code which is then applicable within this jurisdiction, those provisions 
becoming the law most recently shall prevail.  

 
15.02.100 Violations and Penalties 
A. It is unlawful and a public nuisance within the City of McMinnville for any person in charge 

of a premises to permit, allow or cause to exist, any substance, condition or act on the 
premises that is injurious or detrimental to the public health, welfare or safety. 
 

113



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 14 of 29 

B. The Building Official or designee may determine if a violation of this Chapter has occurred. 
 
C. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, it will be noticed and abated per the 

process and procedures outlined in Chapter 2.50 of the McMinnville Municipal Code. 
 
D. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, in addition to any corrective action 

ordered by the City, a person found to have violated the provisions of this Chapter may be 
assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day of continuing 
violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 2 Code Violation. 

 
E. If the violation is deemed to be an immediate public safety hazard, in addition to any 

corrective action ordered by the City, the amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day 
of continuing violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 1 violation. 

 
F. Notwithstanding the other remedies in this chapter, if the Building Official determines that 

any building under construction, mechanical work, or plumbing work on any building or any 
structure poses an immediate threat to the public health, safety or welfare, they may order 
the work halted and the building or structure vacated pending further action by the City and 
its legal counsel. 

 
G. The penalties and remedies provided in this section are not exclusive and are in addition to 

other penalties and remedies available under City ordinance or state statute. 
 
H. In addition to enforcement mechanisms authorized elsewhere in this code, failure to pay an 

administrative civil penalty imposed pursuant to this code shall be grounds for withholding 
issuance of requested permits or licenses, issuance of a stop work order, if applicable, or 
revocation or suspension of any issued permits or certificates of occupancy. 
 

 
15.02.200 Protests and Appeals 
A person aggrieved by an action of the Building Official taken pursuant to this Chapter may 
appeal that action per the process outlined in Chapter 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.   
  

114



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 15 of 29 

 
Chapter 15.04 

FIRE CODES 
Sections: 
 

15.04.010 Definitions 
15.04.020 Establishment of Duties. 
15.04.030 Adoption of Oregon Fire Code 
15.04.040 Fire Protection System Maintenance 
15.04.050 Restricted Uses During Fire Season 
15.04.060 City of McMinnville Modifications to the Oregon Fire Code. . 
15.04.070 Violations and Penalties 
15.04.080 Protests and Appeals 
 

15.04.010 Definitions 
The following definitions govern the implementation of this chapter. 
 
A. “Jurisdiction,” as used in the Oregon Fire Code, means the City of McMinnville 

(”McMinnville”). 
 
B. “Department of Fire Prevention,” as used in the Oregon Fire Code, means “Fire and Life 

Safety Division.” 
 
C. “Fire Code Official,” as used in the Oregon Fire Code, means the Fire Marshal or designee. 
 
D. “Apparatus cost” means the standardized cost, including repairs and depreciation, for the 

use of McMinnville Fire Department’s apparatus and or equipment, as set forth in adopted 
regulations of the State Fire Marshal or in City resolution, and the cost for the use of 
apparatus or equipment of another jurisdiction which may respond to an incident pursuant 
to statute or intergovernmental agreement. 

 
E. “Direct costs” means those costs of supplies, apparatus and labor incurred by the City or 

another jurisdiction in responding to an incident and as may be set forth in adopted 
regulations of the State Fire Marshal or in City resolution. 

 
F. “Direct fire or rescue services” means any service provided by employees of the City (1) to a 

person whose person or property is injured or threatened with injury; or (2) to a person 
whose property has injured or threatens to injure another person or another person’s 
property, for which a charge is not otherwise imposed under this code. “Direct fire or 
rescue services” includes, but is not limited to, the suppression of fires, the rescue of 
persons or property, the provision of medical assistance, and containment and cleanup of 
hazardous materials. 

 

115



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 16 of 29 

G. “Indirect costs” means those costs that are set forth in adopted regulations of the 
State Fire Marshal or in City resolution, and which are the product of the state “average 
response availability rate” and the time spent responding to an incident, together with the 
state “average support services cost per incident,” as defined by the State Fire Marshal. 

 
H. “General costs” means direct or indirect costs that are not attributable to any particular 

person who received direct fire and rescue services. 
 
I. “Gross negligence” means conduct with conscious indifference to or reckless disregard of 

the rights of others. 
 
J. “Labor costs” means the compensation paid by the City to its employees, including but not 

limited to base pay, overtime pay and fringe benefits, during the time spent responding to 
an incident. 

 
K. “Railroad right-of-way” means a right-of-way used for rail transportation. 
 
L. “Transportation route” means a roadway or waterway against which no taxes or 

assessments for fire protection are levied by the City.   
 
 

15.04.020 Establishment of Duties 
The Oregon Fire Code shall be enforced by the Code Official as defined by the Oregon Fire 
Code.  
 
15.04.030 Adoption of Oregon Fire Code 
Except as specifically excluded or modified by this chapter, the City of McMinnville adopts the 
Oregon Fire Code and appendices A through D, F, H, I, J, and K through N, which will be referred 
to in the McMinnville Municipal Code as the Oregon Fire Code (”OFC”). One (1) copy of the 
Oregon Fire Code and appendices shall be filed in the office of the City Recorder. 
 
15.04.040 Fire Protection System Maintenance 
Fire protection systems service providers providing inspections, tests, and maintenance 
required by OFC Section 901.6 and the referenced standards shall be qualified and shall provide 
the inspections, tests, and maintenance in accordance with the referenced standards. Failure by 
a company or individual service provider to follow the referenced standards is a Class 5 
violation. 
 
15.04.050 Restricted Uses During Fire Season 
A. The City of McMinnville will follow the Oregon Department of Forestry (“ODF”) burn 

restrictions and regulations during fire season. Open flame and fire pits are prohibited at 
high fire index.  Exemption: A seasonal permit for contractors can be obtained for use 

116



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 17 of 29 

within the City of McMinnville to allow for powered equipment use during fire season (i.e., 
landscape, construction, etc.). Working on or within one-eighth (1/8) of a mile of ODF-
protected property requires the contractor must contact ODF and get an additional permit 
issued from ODF if required. 

 
B. The Fire Code Official or designees may issue a permit which allows a person to conduct a 

restricted activity as long as specified fire prevention measures are taken to reduce the 
potential for fire ignition. Contractors, such as those performing landscape or construction 
work, may obtain a seasonal permit for use within the City to allow for powered equipment 
used during fire season. Working on or within one-eighth (1/8) of a mile of ODF-protected 
property requires the contractor to contact ODF to obtain an additional permit issued by 
ODF if required. 

 
15.04.060 City of McMinnville Modifications to the Oregon Fire Code 
McMinnville Fire Prevention Code incorporates the Oregon Fire Code current Edition except 
that the following referenced OFC sections are modified as set forth below: 
 
A. OFC Section: Fire Records is modified by the addition of the following language: 

Fire Investigation Reports for fires that are under investigation will not be released until the 
investigation is complete. Exception: The Fire Chief may release 
incomplete Fire Investigation Reports if warranted. 

 
B. OFC Section: Inspections is modified by the addition of the following language: 
 

1. Inspections outside of normal business hours: The Fire & Life Safety Division will make 
every attempt to conduct inspections during normal business hours (Monday thru 
Friday 8 am to 5 pm). If the applicant or business owner’s agent requests an inspection 
outside of normal business hours, or if the Fire Code Official determines a permit 
inspection is required and there is no other alternative but to conduct the inspection 
outside of normal business hours, the Fire Code Official shall inform the applicant or 
business agent there will be an after-hours inspection fee.  The inspection will not be 
performed until the required fees have been paid. 

 
2. Re-Inspection Fees.  Each Fire & Life Safety inspection is provided with one additional 

re-inspection at no additional cost to the business. If subsequent re-inspections starting 
with a second re-inspection is required, a fee shall be assessed.  Each additional re-
inspection required shall have an increased fees assessed.  Fees shall be set through a 
resolution of City Council. 

 
C. OFC Section: Permits is modified by the addition of the following language: 

Required permits may include, Operational and construction permits as allowed by the 
Oregon Fire Code. 

 

117



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 18 of 29 

A schedule of permit and service fees shall be established by resolution of the City Council 
and periodically amended by Council resolution and kept at McMinnville Fire Department 
and in the City Recorder’s office. 

 
15.04.070 Violations and Penalties 
A. It is unlawful and a public nuisance for any person violating or causing violation of any of 

the provisions of this chapter.  Such person, firm or corporation is guilty of a separate 
violation for each and every day during which any violation of this chapter is committed or 
continued by such person, firm or corporation. This violation can be retroactively applied to 
the first day the occupant or owner was made aware of the violation by the Fire Code 
Official. 

 
B. The Fire Code Official or designee may determine if a violation of this Chapter has occurred. 

 
C. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, it will be noticed and abated per the 

process and procedures outlined in Chapter 2.50 of the McMinnville Municipal Code. 
 
D. If the violation is deemed to be a public nuisance, in addition to any corrective action 

ordered by the City, a person found to have violated the provisions of this Chapter may be 
assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day of continuing 
violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 3 Code Violation. 

 
E. For any violations of this chapter deemed to be life-threatening, a violation can be issued 

immediately for each and every occurrence, including multiple occurrences in one (1) day. 
Life-threatening hazards include but are not limited to overcrowding, locking or obstructing 
doors designated to remain unlocked, and shutting off or removing designated fire 
protection equipment. 

 
F. If the violation is deemed to be an immediate public safety hazard, in addition to any 

corrective action ordered by the City, the amount of the civil penalty assessed for each day 
of continuing violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 1 violation. 

 
G. The penalties and remedies provided in this section are not exclusive and are in addition to 

other penalties and remedies available under City ordinance or state statute 
 
15.04.080  Protests and Appeals 
A person aggrieved by an action of the Building Official taken pursuant to this Chapter may 
appeal that action per the process outlined in Chapter 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.   
  

118



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 19 of 29 

 
Chapter 15.06 

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION 
 

Sections: 
 

15.06.010 Adopted by Reference 
15.06.020 Authority to Alter Provisions 

 
 
15.06.010 Adopted by Reference 
The provisions of the current edition of the Oregon Standard Specifications for Construction, 
prepared by the Oregon Department of Transportation, are adopted and made a part hereof as 
if fully set out in this chapter, and all Public Works contracts hereafter entered into by the city, 
excepting the McMinnville Water and Light commission, shall include in the contract 
documents by reference all of the provisions of said specifications. 
 
15.06.020 Authority to Alter Provisions 
The City reserves the right to amend, enlarge or change any of the standard specifications in 
any construction contract hereafter entered into by and between the city and another party.  . 
 
 
  

119



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 20 of 29 

Chapter 15.08 
HOUSE MOVING REGULATIONS 

 
Sections: 
 

15.08.010 Purpose 
15.08.020 Relocation Permit Required 
15.08.030 Site and Street Occupancy Prohibited 
15.08.040 Applicant’s Burden 
15.08.050 Applications 
15.08.060 Authority to Decide Relocation Permit 
15.08.070 Permit Approval Process 
15.08.080 Demonstration of Zoning Compliance 
15.08.090 Approval Criteria 
15.08.100 Conditions 
15.08.110 Notice of Approved Relocation Permit 
15.08.115 Relocation of Historic Resources 
15.08.120 Violations and Penalties 
15.08.130 Protests and Appeals 

 
15.08.010 Purpose 
The purpose of this section is to establish an orderly process for reviewing requests for moving 
structures over City streets; minimizing damage to private and public property during the 
course of moving a structure, securing funds for the repair or restoration of damage caused by 
moving structures, minimizing disruption to traffic, public utilities, and communication services, 
protecting public safety and welfare, and ensuring compliance with applicable provisions of the 
McMinnville Municipal Code.  
 
15.08.020 Relocation Permit Required 
A building permit is required prior to moving any structure, which is ordinarily attached to real 
property over City streets. Buildings relocated from sites not within the City of McMinnville are 
subject to this chapter. In such cases the Community Development Director shall determine 
applicable code provisions. 
 
15.08.030 Site and Street Occupancy Prohibited 
A. Occupation of a relocated structure on any lot, tract, or other real property is prohibited 

without first obtaining zoning certification in accordance with this chapter, required 
building permits, and payment of all fees. 

 
B. Temporary storage of moved structures within the City of McMinnville is prohibited. 
 
C. Temporary placement of relocated structures within public and private streets is prohibited 

unless expressly authorized under an approved relocation permit.  

120



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 21 of 29 

 
15.08.040 Applicant’s Burden 
The applicant bears the burden of demonstrating compliance with all provisions of these 
regulations prior to issuance of a relocation permit.  
 
15.08.050 Applications 
A. An application fee, as adopted by Resolution of the McMinnville City Council, is required at 

the time of application submission.  Applications that are not accompanied by an 
application fee shall not be accepted.  

 
B. Applicants will be required to provide insurance as set by City Council.   

 
C. The applicant shall pay a refundable deposit for damages incurred within the public right of 

way or other city property, facilities or utilities.  Deposit to be set by Resolution of the 
McMinnville City Council.   

 
15.08.060 Authority to Decide Relocation Permit 
The Community Development Director, or designee, shall interpret, apply, and enforce 
provisions of this chapter except for zoning and land-use regulations, which shall be 
administered by the Planning Director.  
 
15.08.070 Permit Approval Prohibited 
No building relocation permit shall be issued until all liens, charges, and billings applicable to 
the donor site and owed the City have been paid to the satisfaction of the Finance Director.  
 
15.08.080 Demonstration of Zoning Compliance 
A. The applicant shall demonstrate consistency with the McMinnville Zoning Ordinance for the 

donor and receiving sites located within the City of McMinnville prior to issuance of a 
relocation permit. 

 
B. Zoning Certification 

 
1. The relocation permit application shall include sufficient information necessary for 

determination of zoning compliance for receiving sites and determination of the 
structure’s historic preservation landmark status under the McMinnville Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 
2. The Planning Director shall determine whether the applicant has demonstrated 

compliance with the Zoning Ordinance within seven (7) workdays of a complete 
application being received. 

 

121



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 22 of 29 

15.08.090 Approval Criteria 
The Community Development Director, or designee, may approve, approve with conditions, or 
deny relocation permit applications. Applications for a relocation permit shall be approved only 
when the following items have been submitted or otherwise resolved to the Community 
Development Director’s satisfaction. The Community Development Director shall consider 
recommendations of the Building Official, Planning Director, Public Works Division, Police Chief, 
Fire Marshall, Oregon Department of Transportation, Yamhill County, Utility Providers and 
others as appropriate. 
 
A. Complete relocation permit application and deposit; 
 
B. Proposed route, time and date of the move; 
 
C. Proof of required insurance and endorsements. 
 
D. Certification of zoning compliance; 
 
E. Determination that the proposed time and route of the move is safe and minimizes 

disruption to traffic; 
 
F. Proof of approved building permits for receiving site when located in the City of 

McMinnville; 
 
G. The demolition permit for donor site showing proper disconnection and capping of site 

utilities; 
 
I. Specification of loaded height, width, and length of structure to be moved, and all escort 

and other vehicles; 
 
J. Specification of wheel weight in pounds per square inch; 
 
K. Identification of all obstructions within the public right-of-way and private property to be 

removed. Trees that must be pruned or removed are also to be identified. A tree permit 
may be required in accordance with Section 17.58.040 of this code; if a street tree, a private 
tree, or a sign must be pruned or removed to accommodate a house move and otherwise 
meets current clearance requirements, removal and replacement costs will be paid by the 
applicant.  

 
L. Identification of all traffic controls along the move-route; 
 
M. Traffic control plan; 
 

122



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 23 of 29 

N. Certification from utility providers, county, and state agencies (“Agency” or “Agencies”) 
along the route of move certifying acceptability of the proposed move and specifying any 
conditions that are imposed as a condition of the certification; 

  
1. Applicant will prepare for Agency review with any request for certification a map or 

drawing describing the route of the move and show any above-ground utility facilities, 
signage, or lighting in the route. 

 
2. Applicant will pay costs, fees and charges required by an Agency for review of utility, 

lighting, or signage systems related to certification. 
 
O. Authorization by owners of the donor and receiving sites to make application for the move; 
 
P. Written confirmation from the Finance Director that all liens, charges, and billings 

applicable to the donor site have been satisfied; 
 
Q. A security deposit as required to secure repair of any damage to City property or Agency 

facilities in an amount to be determined by the Community Development Director; 
 
R. Additional information as may be specified to demonstrate compliance with this chapter.  

 
15.08.100 Conditions 
A relocation permit may be conditioned to specify conditions including but not limited to the 
following: 
 
A. Time of move; 
 
B. Route of move; 
 
C. Overall length, width, and height of structure to be moved; 
 
D. Axle weight or wheel weight in pounds per square inch of tire; 
 
E. Number and location of vehicle escorts; 
 
F. Required traffic controls; 
 
G. Terms for repair of damage to roadways, property, or other City or Agency facilities.  
 
15.08.110 Notice of Approved Relocation Permit 
The applicant shall post a notice of approved relocation permit on the property or structure so 
that it is visible from the street, giving notice of intent to relocate the structure. The notice shall 
be in the form prescribed by the Community Development Director and shall be posted the 

123



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 24 of 29 

same day the permit is approved. The notice must remain posted for five (5) workdays 
thereafter.  
 
15.08.115 Relocation of Historic Resources 
A. Certificate of Approval Required.  Prior to any exterior alteration or relocation of a historic 

resource on the McMinnville Historic Resources Inventory, the owner must apply for and 
receive a Certificate of Approval per Section 17.65.040(C) of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.  No alteration of the historic landmark shall occur prior to the issuance of the Historic 
Landmarks Committee’s decision on the Certificate of Approval for Alteration application. 
 

B. Fees Waived for Eligible Historic Resources.  Certain municipal fees are hereby waived, 
subject to compliance with this chapter, in the instances where a structure which is 
designated as “distinctive” or “significant” on the McMinnville Historic Resources Inventory 
is being moved from one lot within the city to another lot in the city. The Historic Resources 
Inventory is on file in the city planning department.  

 
1. Fees to be Waived.  The fees to be waived are the parks and wastewater system 

development charges imposed in Section 3.10.020 of the McMinnville Municipal Code, 
and any moving, foundation and plumbing permit fees imposed by this Chapter.   

 
2. Covenant Required.  In return for the fee waiver the owner of the structure to be moved 

shall covenant with the city to guarantee that the structure shall be maintained in its 
historic character and that all exterior alterations, as defined in MMC 17.06.060, shall be 
made in compliance with the Certificate of Approval process described in MMC 
17.65.060.  

 
3. Fee Waiver Rescinded. In the event that an applicant decides to proceed with 

alterations that were not approved by the Historic Landmarks Committee through the 
Certificate of Approval for Alteration process in Section 17.65.060 of the McMinnville 
Municipal Code, all fees waived under Section 15.08.115 of this Chapter will become 
due and payable. Fees to be paid will be based on the then current fee schedules.  

 
4. Certificate of Fee Waiver.  Upon issuance of the certificate of occupancy for the new 

location of the historic resource, the city shall record a Certificate of Fee Waiver on the 
property documenting the date and amount of the fee waiver with the Yamhill County 
Recorder’s Office. 

 
15.08.120 Violations and Penalties 
In addition to any corrective action ordered by the city, a person found to have violated the 
provisions of this section may be assessed a civil penalty. The amount of the civil penalty 
assessed for each day of continued violation will not exceed the amount established for a Class 
3 code violation.   

 

124



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 25 of 29 

15.08.130 Protests and Appeals 
A person aggrieved by the decision on a relocation permit taken pursuant to this Chapter may 
appeal that action per the process outlined in Chapter 2.50.510 of the McMinnville Municipal 
Code.   
 
  

125



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 26 of 29 

Chapter 2.50 
CODE COMPLIANCE 

 
 
New proposed language is represented by underline font, deleted language is represented 
by strikethrough font. 

 
 
2.50.010 Applicability of Chapter 
A. The provisions of this chapter apply to the enforcement of civil code provisions identified in 

the following portions of the McMinnville Municipal Code, including all plans, permits, or 
licenses adopted or issued pursuant to such provisions : 
 
1. All chapters of Title 5 (Business Taxes, Licenses and Regulations) 

 
2. All chapters of Title 8 (Health and Safety) 

 
3. All chapters of Title 15 (Buildings and Construction) 

 
4. All chapters of Title 17 (Zoning) and all ordinance adopted pursuant to Title 17 or the 

McMinnville Comprehensive Plan, regardless of whether such ordinance are codified in 
the McMinnville Municipal Code. 

 
B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this section, the provisions of this 

chapter do not apply to the enforcement of any violation identified as a misdemeanor or for 
which the punishment may include any term of imprisonment, or to any criminal, traffic or 
parking laws, including the laws set forth in the following Titles of the McMinnville 
Municipal Code: 
 
1. Title 9 – Public Peace, Morals and Welfare 

 
2. Title 10 – Vehicles and Traffic 

  

126



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 27 of 29 

Chapter 8.10 
PUBLIC NUISANCES 

 
 

 
New proposed language is represented by underline font, deleted language is represented 
by strikethrough font. 

 
Sections: 
 
8.10.035 Storage 
 
8.10.250 Motor Vehicles 
A. A person in charge of a premises must not permit, allow or cause to exist any discarded 

motor vehicle (including motor vehicles parts such as bodies, engines, transmissions and 
rear ends) on the premises, except that a person may store a discarded motor vehicle: 
 
1. Within in a building that is wholly or entirely enclosed except for doors used for ingress 

or egress 
 

2. In a back yard of a residential property if the discarded motor vehicle: 
 

a. Is screened by a sight-obscuring fence so that it is not visible from adjoining 
properties, streets and public right of ways, and/or 
 

b. Is covered by an approved car cover, that is maintained free of deterioration, 
tearing, dirt and dust accumulation; and 

 
c. Is maintained in a manner that does not attract vermin, produce an offensive odor, 

or otherwise become a danger to public health or safety. 
 

3. In connection with an authorized and permitted business dealing in junked vehicles. 
 

B. For the purpose of this section, "discarded motor vehicle" means any motor vehicle that: 
 
1. Has been inoperative for a period of more than 30 days; 

 
2. Is wrecked; 

 
3. Is dismantled, in whole or part; 

 
4. Is junked or abandoned; or, 

 
5. Has a vehicle registration sticker expired for more than two (2) months. 

127



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 28 of 29 

C. A person in charge of a premises in a residential zone must not permit, allow or cause to 
exist motor vehicles, RVs, boats or trailers to be parked or placed in front yards or exterior 
side yards of the premises, unless the area used for parking or storage consists of non-
erodible surfaces such as asphalt, concrete or pavers, or gravel with a minimum depth of 
four inches that consists of traffic bound or dense-grade gravel. 
 

D. A person in charge of a premises in a residential zone must not permit, allow or cause to 
exist parking or storage areas consisting of non-erodible surfaces in front or exterior side 
yards of the premises to use more than 40% of the yard area.  For the purposes of this 
section, “yard area” is measured as the space between the front and side building lines to 
the property line of the premises. 

 
E. A person in charge of a premises in a residential zone must not permit, allow or cause to 

exist parking or storage areas that are less than twenty feet in depth from the property line 
of the premises when the parking or storage area is perpendicular to the property line. 
 

F. In addition to any corrective action ordered by the City, a person found to have violated the 
provisions of this section may be assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil penalty 
assessed for each day of continuing violation will not exceed the amount established for a 
Class 5 Code Violation. 

 
8.10.305 Storage 
A. Unless otherwise specifically allowed by state regulations or this code, a person in charge 

of a premises must not permit, allow or cause to exist any storage of items of personal 
property out-of-doors, or outside a building or structure that is not enclosed or screened 
from public view. 
 

B. Not withstanding subsection (A) of this section, the following items of personal property 
may be stored outside of a building or structure: 
 
1. Firewood that is stacked and usable.  “Usable” firewood has more wood than rot and 

is cut to lengths that will fit a lawful fireplace or wood stove on the premises; 
 

2. Construction material, if the construction material is temporarily stored and is stored 
in a manner to protect its utility and to prevent is deterioration and the construction 
material is to be used for construction on the premises; 
 

3. All other items of personal property which are of a type, condition or quantity 
consistent with normal and intended outside use. By way of illustration, but not 
limitation, as used in this section, items of personal property include barbeque grills, 
lawn furniture, and solid waste disposal receptacles. 
 

128



---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Ordinance No. 5093 (MMC – 15 Buildings and Construction)  Page 29 of 29 

C. In addition to any corrective action ordered by the City, a person found to have violated 
the provisions of this section may be assessed a civil penalty.  The amount of the civil 
penalty assessed for each day of continuing violation will not exceed the amount 
established for a Class 5 Code Violation. 

 

129


	1.a. Agenda 07.14.20
	4.a. CC 11-12-19 Minutes
	5.a.1. Memo - Fire -Safety & Resiliency Monitor Purchase
	5.a.2. HGAC  Defibrillator REsolution 20
	5.a.3. McMinnville LP15 revision
	5.a.4. McMinnville LP15 PO
	5.b.1. Staff Report CRF sub-grant agreement MW+L
	5.b.2. Attachment 1 Resolution Subgrant Agreement
	5.b.3. Attachment 2 Sub-Grant Agreement
	5.b.4. Attachment 3 City of McMinnville CRF Grant Agreement 1088
	5.b.5. Attachment 4 MWL Res. No. 2020-15 - Subgrant Project Budget Exhibit 2 to...
	6.a.1. CC Meeting Packet, Ordinance No. 5093_Staff Report and Attachments
	CC SR Ordinance No. 5093, Title 15 Code Amendments
	Chapter 2.50 MMC (1)
	Chapter 2.50 CODE COMPLIANCE
	2.50.010 Applicability of chapter.
	2.50.020 Definitions.
	2.50.110 Identification and investigation.
	2.50.120 Notice of code violation.
	2.50.210 Corrective action by responsible person.
	2.50.220 Corrective action by compliance officer.
	2.50.230 Obtaining a corrective action warrant.
	2.50.240 Executing a corrective action warrant.
	2.50.250 Notice and collection of corrective action costs.
	2.50.260 Corrective action remedies not exclusive.
	2.50.310 Notice of civil penalty.
	2.50.320 Civil penalty classification levels.
	2.50.510 Protests and appeals.


	Ordinance No. 5093 - MMC Amendments Buildings and Construction - FINAL
	15.02.010 Administration
	15.02.020 Building Codes
	The special inspection requirements of the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code shall apply to work performed under a grading permit where required by the building official.

	15.02.030 Revisions to Codes
	15.02.040 Alternate Materials, Methods of Design and Methods of Construction
	15.02.050 Modifications
	15.02.060 Permits
	D. The issuance of a permit based on construction documents and other data does not prevent the Building Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in the construction documents and other data, or from preventing building operation, s...
	E. Partial Permits.  The Building Official is authorized to promulgate additional administrative rules and regulations related to the efficient administration and review of partial permits.  Elements for partial permits shall include but not be limite...
	F. Design Profession of Responsible Charge.  Where it is required that documents be prepared by a registered design professional, the Building Official shall be authorized to require the owner or the owner's authorized agent to engage and designate on...
	G. Work without a permit – Investigation fee.
	H. Suspension or Revocation.  The Building Official may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit issued under the provision of this Chapter whenever the Permit is issued in error on the basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information supplied...
	I. The Building Official may adopt administrative procedures regarding permit and permit application expirations, extensions, and/or reinstatements.

	15.02.070 Inspections
	15.02.080 Fees
	A. Fees for permits and other related services pursuant to the building inspection program will be established by resolution of the City Council and updated regularly as appropriate.
	B. Fee refunds and waivers.

	15.02.090 Powers and Duties of Building Official
	15.02.095 Applicability
	15.02.100 Violations and Penalties
	15.02.200 Protests and Appeals
	15.04.010 Definitions
	15.04.020 Establishment of Duties
	15.04.030 Adoption of Oregon Fire Code
	15.04.040 Fire Protection System Maintenance
	15.04.050 Restricted Uses During Fire Season
	15.04.060 City of McMinnville Modifications to the Oregon Fire Code
	15.04.070 Violations and Penalties
	15.04.080  Protests and Appeals
	15.06.010 Adopted by Reference
	15.06.020 Authority to Alter Provisions
	15.08.010 Purpose
	15.08.020 Relocation Permit Required
	15.08.030 Site and Street Occupancy Prohibited
	15.08.040 Applicant’s Burden
	15.08.050 Applications
	15.08.060 Authority to Decide Relocation Permit
	15.08.070 Permit Approval Prohibited
	15.08.080 Demonstration of Zoning Compliance
	15.08.090 Approval Criteria
	15.08.100 Conditions
	15.08.110 Notice of Approved Relocation Permit
	15.08.115 Relocation of Historic Resources
	15.08.120 Violations and Penalties
	15.08.130 Protests and Appeals
	2.50.010 Applicability of Chapter
	8.10.250 Motor Vehicles
	8.10.305 Storage


	6.a.2. Ordinance No. 5093 - MMC Amendments Buildings and Construction - FINAL
	15.02.010 Administration
	15.02.020 Building Codes
	The special inspection requirements of the current Oregon Structural Specialty Code shall apply to work performed under a grading permit where required by the building official.

	15.02.030 Revisions to Codes
	15.02.040 Alternate Materials, Methods of Design and Methods of Construction
	15.02.050 Modifications
	15.02.060 Permits
	D. The issuance of a permit based on construction documents and other data does not prevent the Building Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in the construction documents and other data, or from preventing building operation, s...
	E. Partial Permits.  The Building Official is authorized to promulgate additional administrative rules and regulations related to the efficient administration and review of partial permits.  Elements for partial permits shall include but not be limite...
	F. Design Profession of Responsible Charge.  Where it is required that documents be prepared by a registered design professional, the Building Official shall be authorized to require the owner or the owner's authorized agent to engage and designate on...
	G. Work without a permit – Investigation fee.
	H. Suspension or Revocation.  The Building Official may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit issued under the provision of this Chapter whenever the Permit is issued in error on the basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information supplied...
	I. The Building Official may adopt administrative procedures regarding permit and permit application expirations, extensions, and/or reinstatements.

	15.02.070 Inspections
	15.02.080 Fees
	A. Fees for permits and other related services pursuant to the building inspection program will be established by resolution of the City Council and updated regularly as appropriate.
	B. Fee refunds and waivers.

	15.02.090 Powers and Duties of Building Official
	15.02.095 Applicability
	15.02.100 Violations and Penalties
	15.02.200 Protests and Appeals
	15.04.010 Definitions
	15.04.020 Establishment of Duties
	15.04.030 Adoption of Oregon Fire Code
	15.04.040 Fire Protection System Maintenance
	15.04.050 Restricted Uses During Fire Season
	15.04.060 City of McMinnville Modifications to the Oregon Fire Code
	15.04.070 Violations and Penalties
	15.04.080  Protests and Appeals
	15.06.010 Adopted by Reference
	15.06.020 Authority to Alter Provisions
	15.08.010 Purpose
	15.08.020 Relocation Permit Required
	15.08.030 Site and Street Occupancy Prohibited
	15.08.040 Applicant’s Burden
	15.08.050 Applications
	15.08.060 Authority to Decide Relocation Permit
	15.08.070 Permit Approval Prohibited
	15.08.080 Demonstration of Zoning Compliance
	15.08.090 Approval Criteria
	15.08.100 Conditions
	15.08.110 Notice of Approved Relocation Permit
	15.08.115 Relocation of Historic Resources
	15.08.120 Violations and Penalties
	15.08.130 Protests and Appeals
	2.50.010 Applicability of Chapter
	8.10.250 Motor Vehicles
	8.10.305 Storage




